Financial Highlights
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Net income
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Dividends paid per share
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* Includes nonrecurring charges in 1999 of $17,204 pretax ($12,709 after tax), or $.92 per share (basic)/$.91 per
share (diluted). In 1998, the nonrecurring charges were $26,747 pretax ($21,284 after tax), or $1.55 per share
(basic)/$1.54 per share (diluted).
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Operating Highlights:
• Net income (before one-time charges) increased by 52 percent to $56.8 million, a record for the company.
• Achieved a 4.2 percent net margin (before one-time charges), a significant achievement over the prior year’s
2.8 percent net margin.
• The company’s economic value creation metric improved by $18.3 million over 1998, the first meaningful
improvement in more than five years.
• Completed the original restructuring plan. During 1999, we realized more than half of the $30 million annual
savings target. By the end of our year 2000, we fully expect to be at the $30 million cost savings rate, as
planned.
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Letter to Stakeholders

A year ago, I wrote you of our desire to build

required to run our business on a daily basis

a better business, one that creates value for all who

– declined 5 percent this year compared to

have a stake in our company. Throughout our long

last year, a direct result of our concerted

history, H.B. Fuller has often been challenged by

efforts to lower our daily cash needs.

tough and changing market conditions. Time and

• The company’s increased cash flow was

again we have been able to overcome adverse circum-

used to reduce debt; therefore, our debt to

stances – and are a better company for it.

total capital improved considerably from

Today, I am pleased to report that the plan we
implemented in late 1998 is bringing good results.
Consider the following key financial indicators:

51.6 percent last year to 45.6 percent at
the end of 1999.
• And our return on invested capital gained

• Net income was up considerably (excluding

2.5 percentage points to finish at 10.4

one-time charges). For the year, net

percent for the year, a solid reversal of a

income increased 52 percent from $37.3

two-year downward trend.

million in 1998 to $56.8 million in 1999.

This progress represents the first phase in our

The improvement in our income was

growth strategy, called “enhancement.” It encom-

reflected in our gross margins and operat-

passes the actions we have taken to bring our costs in

ing expenses. Gross margins for the year

line with industry standards, placing us in a much

improved 1.2 percentage points from 31.3

more competitive position. The next two phases in

percent a year ago to 32.5 percent for

our strategy, expansion and extension, are designed

1999. Operating expenses were $322.2

to take us to a higher level of performance, while

million for the year – down by $11.7

reshaping the company for the future. Expansion

million in absolute dollars and 1.2 percent-

refers to our efforts to grow our existing businesses,

age points as a percent of sales, again

while extension connotes the opportunities in new

before one-time charges.

areas that we must pursue to strengthen H.B. Fuller

• Operating working capital – the cash

for the long-term and to ensure continued improved
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results. Each of the three phases is pivotal to the

tively leverage our spending globally,

successful enactment of our strategy.

redefine supplier expectations, expand
purchasing to encompass non-raw mate-

Phase 1: Enhancement

rial spending, and to integrate supply

Throughout our global operations, we implemented a number of changes, as announced in late
1998, and reported on last year. In summary, these
were designed to streamline our organizational structure and reduce operating costs. Although too
numerous to mention in their entirety, they include
• Reduced the workforce from 6,000 at the
end of fiscal 1998, to 5,400 at the conclusion of 1999. This represents a 10 percent
meeting

our

previously

announced goal.
• Closed 9 manufacturing facilities, primarily in Latin America and Europe, to
improve operating efficiencies. Several
plants were concurrently upgraded to
handle increased capacity.
• Further globalized our supply chain
management function. This included an
organizational realignment to more effec-
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process. We also closed F.A.I. Trading
Company, a subsidiary established in 1972
to coordinate the export of raw materials
and finished goods outside the United
States, primarily to Latin America.
• Moved headquarters for our regional group

the following major points:

decrease,

chain management into the total planning
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in Europe to Düsseldorf, Germany. Like
last year’s relocation of our Asia/Pacific
headquarters to Melbourne, Australia, this
action enables us to reduce operating
costs while capitalizing on the growth
opportunities presented through a more
strategically located site.

Phase 2: Expansion
With our cost structures modified to better fit
today’s environment, we are focusing our energy on
growth. In 1999, our sales increased 1.3 percent to
$1.364 billion. The past year was one of transition.

The many changes made to strengthen our company
included some steps, such as divestitures of unprofitable businesses and product rationalization, that
cost us sales in the short-term. In addition, there was
some bid business in the latter half of 1998 that we
were not successful in obtaining. We have since
regained some of that business through new product
introductions and our enhanced competitive position.
In 2000, we are concentrating on new ways
to grow our businesses in a focused manner. Among
the actions we have taken:
• Realigned our Research and Development
organization, redirecting our product
development efforts to concentrate on
markets, versus individual customer
needs. By so doing, we broaden our reach
and maximize our opportunities. Recent
examples of this approach include
Excelerator™ industrial adhesives offering
a stronger bond and faster rate of set for
applications in the packaging and graphic
arts markets, and Clarity™ adhesives, a
transparent hot melt for bottle labeling
that doesn’t obscure label type.
• Began streamlining our product offerings,

toward the goal of consolidating them by
40 to 50 percent worldwide. To understand
the scope, consider that in Europe alone,
we previously maintained a line totaling
3,600 products. Today, we have reduced
that number to a much more manageable
1,800. With fewer products to maintain,
we can better concentrate on improving
those that deliver the greatest value,
while realizing production efficiencies.
• Introduced the next component of our
Technical Knowledge System, our global
knowledge management system, through
which we can document, prioritize, track
and evaluate laboratory projects to ensure
that we best direct our technical
resources toward the achievement of the
company’s strategic objectives. Benefits
include the central storage of information, with global access to technical
knowledge; increased speed to market,
improved profitability, and the ability
to further consolidate and leverage
product lines.
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• Implemented a customer segmentation

new ways. We are analyzing the value chains within

system for our adhesives, sealants and

each of our businesses in great detail, looking

coatings business in North America. Our

beyond our initial customers to fully understand the

customers vary greatly in product needs

end users’ needs and to identify opportunities at

and service requirements. Through our

other points in the chain. We have many more

new system, which includes the use of

opportunities to create value for our stakeholders

distributors, we can more strategically

than in simply the manufacturing and selling of

allocate our resources and efforts, while

adhesives. Our global infrastructure, our technical

meeting customers’ demands in a cost-

expertise, our industry knowledge, and the capabil-

competitive manner.

ities of our employees will allow us to go far beyond
where we are today. The Leadership Council and

Phase 3: Extension
Our efforts in the enhancement phase led to
improved return on sales prior to one-time charges,
from 2.8 percent in 1998 to 4.2 percent this year,
while the activities in our expansion phase should
improve our top-line growth in the coming years.
However, we believe our capacity to continue to
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many sub-teams are actively working on creating
these new opportunities for H.B. Fuller. Our enterprise, which got its start 113 years ago producing
wallpaper paste, will continue to evolve. As it does,
we anticipate a more diversified portfolio.

Organizational Changes

increase our profitability significantly above our

To support the expansion and extension

current goal of 5 percent return on sales, given our

phases of our development, we have implemented

current business model, is limited. Therefore, we

several changes within our organizational structure.

must extend our reach by both developing addi-

These are designed to increase flexibility in decision-

tional opportunities of bringing value to our exist-

making and help us manage our markets by their

ing customers, and by defining our customer base in

defining characteristics, such as brand identity, or
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customer partnering.
We also formed a new strategic business
unit focused on electronic commerce, to develop
opportunities via the Internet. By treating e-business as a separate operational entity, we can move
with far greater speed in establishing the electronic
platform necessary for effectively competing in
today’s world. Electronic commerce will undoubtedly
have a huge impact not only on H.B. Fuller, but on
the entire industry. There are significant benefits,
both in revenue generation and cost savings, that
can be achieved through e-business, and we are
determined to do so as quickly as possible.
During 1999 we said farewell to several
longtime leaders. John Ray, who changed the face
of our North American adhesives business, retired
in December after 35 years of leadership. We are
indebted to him for his contributions, and wish
him well in this new phase of life.
Tony Andersen, who has carried the
H.B. Fuller flag for 42 years, including the last seven
as chairman, announced his retirement from that
position in November. Tony’s tenure is marked by
many accomplishments – taking the company global,
spearheading international growth, establishing a

culture that emphasizes employee values, and
demonstrating leadership in the areas of corporate
responsibility and community giving. We deeply
appreciate Tony’s lifelong support of H.B. Fuller
Company, and look forward to working with him as
he continues to serve on the board.
With Tony’s retirement, the board elected
me to assume the additional duties of chairman.
The board has provided valuable guidance during
the many changes H.B. Fuller has experienced. I
thank them for their support; it is an honor to work
with them in this new capacity.

Energized for
To m o r r o w ’ s O p p o r t u n i t i e s
As we look ahead to the future, I foresee an
H.B. Fuller that will truly spread its wings. We have
spent the past year and a half strengthening and
positioning our organization. Our associates have
done a remarkable job, in the process demonstrating a great deal of talent. It is now time to focus
on growth.
We have set aggressive targets, and are
committed to achieving them and creating further
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value for you, our stakeholders. In 1999, we intro-

zation is invigorated by our initial success, and I

duced the business metric of value creation into our

believe that will create a significantly higher value for

organization to better focus our attention on creat-

our shareholders.

ing value for all our constituencies. Defined as

Within the pages of this report, we present

adjusted net operating profit after tax minus the cost

five examples that demonstrate the types of activities

of average net invested capital, it is also a key compo-

occurring throughout our organization. Whether

nent of our senior management incentive plans. I am

finding a more cost-effective method to market our

pleased to report that we improved our value creation

products, partnering with our customers and their

by $18.3 million this year, the first meaningful

customers in new ways, or developing revolutionary

improvement in more than five years. We will continue

offerings that present a better solution for the end-

to set stretch goals and push ourselves in this area.

user, we believe you’ll find that H.B. Fuller is truly

Similarly, to align employee supplemental

energized to meet tomorrow’s opportunities.

compensation throughout H.B. Fuller with business
unit objectives, we replaced our Profit Share Plus
program with a unit performance bonus plan based on
“line of sight” targets. I am delighted that we are
paying rewards to many units within H.B. Fuller,

Albert P.L. Stroucken

recognizing individuals’ hard work and dedication.

Chairman of the Board,

With the many successes of this year, it is
perhaps most gratifying to experience the enthusiasm
and energy our employees bring to the challenge of
carving out our company’s future.
We have come a long way, but there are many
more opportunities waiting for us. Our entire organi-
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President and
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Mike Modak
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Jim Conaty

Walter Nussbaumer

EFTEC
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Steve Large

Chief Executive Officer

North America
Ray Tucker
Tony Lobo

Chief Financial Officer

Latin America
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Performance Products

Specialty

Establishing a strategic business
unit dedicated to e-commerce
will enable H.B. Fuller to compete more effectively in today’s
rapidly changing business environment. Leading the effort at
H.B. Fuller, along with Chairman,
President and CEO Al Stroucken,
left, are e-business unit leaders
Chris Pizinger, Paul Satre and
Steve Smerz.

To d a y ’ s H . B . F u l l e r

O p e n - S e s a m e ® S y s t e m Wo r k s M a g i c

In discount retailing, the name of the game is

tapes are applied into boxes, manufactured by Smurfit-

fast becoming display-ready packaging. Retailers are

Stone Container Corporation. A simple pull of the tape

looking to reduce the amount of time – and labor –

opens the box neatly, without damaging the products

required to prepare product displays, while simultane-

inside or risking worker injury from utility knives.

ously improving the appearance of those displays. With

A technical review followed at the three

its solutions-focused approach, H.B. Fuller’s Linear

Smurfit-Stone facilities that would manufacture the

Products, Inc., is helping them achieve this goal.

Ortho boxes, with Linear developing the equipment

Linear Products manufactures reinforcement

profiles necessary to apply the Open-Sesame® system

and easy-open tapes for the corrugated and folding

during box manufacturing. Next: a summit organized

carton packaging and plywood industries. The busi-

by Smurfit-Stone at its state-of-the-art Solutions

ness has a history of teaming together with

Center in Bentonville, Ark. The summit brought

customers at many levels – from the manufacturers of

together a dozen representatives from Smurfit-Stone,

corrugated containers and folding cartons, to product

Scott’s Ortho and Linear, with the express purpose of

manufacturers, to retailers – and 1999 was no differ-

fast-forwarding the project.

ent. In April, a referral led Linear to an opportunity

John Voll, director of business development

to help The Scotts Company develop an enhanced

for Smurfit-Stone’s Packaging Solutions Center, coor-

package for its Ortho® Grass-B-Gon® and other

dinated the summit. Says John, “In the past, most

consumer herbicide products.

sales communication looked like a bow tie: a lot of

“Scotts needed display-ready cases by

back-and-forth between sides, with one salesperson

December. Developing a new package in less than

in the center. Now, it looks more like a diamond, with

nine months, start to finish, is practically unheard

participants on all sides getting together to resolve

of,” says Kathleen Stuck, Linear’s national accounts

issues much faster.”

manager responsible for coordinating the effort.
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“By the time we were finished, we had devel-

Linear’s solution was its Open-Sesame® easy-

oped an action plan for getting the product to market

open, hot melt-coated tape system. Two Sesame®

in the desired timeframe,” Kathleen says. That one
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meeting, with all of us working together, eliminated
six months from the typical process.”
Ultimately, Linear contributed the following
to the project: package design; a modified version of
Sesame® tape, increasing tensile strength to accommodate the box’s heavier board; instruction in the
placement of package graphics; methods for testing
box performance; customized application equipment
at the three plants; and technical support at the
relevant Smurfit-Stone manufacturing facilities.
Through its multifaceted role, Linear added
value in a number of ways. For Smurfit-Stone, it
brought a unique solution in the form of the OpenSesame® system, along with the expertise to train
employees in its application. For The Scotts Company,
Linear coordinated, on a nationwide basis, activities
necessary in the creation of a suitable package. For
the retailer, Linear will ultimately help reduce costs,
while enhancing the display’s appearance.
“The final result was a win-win-win-win
situation,” says John. “The retailer got the product
on store shelves faster. Scotts resolved its package
opening issues. H.B. Fuller gained more OpenSesame® business, and we strengthened our relationship with Scotts.”

“People don’t want to be sold;
they want a solution,” says
Smurfit-Stone’s John Voll, with
Linear Products’ Kathleen Stuck,
whose consultation helped
provide one such solution, at
the packaging leader’s Solution
Center in Bentonville, Ark.

The Sole Solution

Two years ago, adidas-Salomon AG, one of the

overall broad experience in shoe construction, led

world’s best-known names in athletic footwear, not to

adidas-Salomon to S.W. Chiu, manager of H.B. Fuller’s

mention the second-largest supplier in the sporting

global strategic business unit for the footwear

goods industry, took a giant step toward changing the

market. adidas-Salomon was looking for newer, safer,

formulation of the adhesives used to attach the soles

high-performance products for sole manufacturing

of their athletic shoes. Traditionally, solvent-based

and attachment. Chiu worked closely with Simon

products have been used by footwear manufacturers

Tidball, manufacturing services manager for footwear

for this application because of their strong bond, low

quality at adidas-Salomon.

cost, and because, simply, there were no other

“We were quite demanding,” said Simon. “We

options. Alternatives that are more environmentally

wanted a product that was environmentally friendly,

friendly, yet still effective, have proven difficult to

provided a consistent bond, and improved efficien-

develop. However, with the recent introduction of an

cies, all for the same cost as the current product. We

adhesive that uses a process called “hot melt moisture

found that H.B. Fuller’s hot melt moisture cure prod-

cure,” H.B. Fuller Company is treading into new terri-

ucts delivered all this – and more.”

tory – and offering customers another approach.
H.B. Fuller offers a full line of shoe construc-

cure products is automated, providing a uniform

tion products to the worldwide footwear industry:

adhesive application. This translates to a consistent

Cleaners and primers for preparing the material used

bond. Add this to the multiple other performance

in constructing shoes. Hot melt and water-based

attributes of hot melt moisture cure products and

products used in the first manufacturing stage where

you’re ensured a high quality shoe.

the construction of the upper part of the shoe takes

“It takes less hot melt moisture cure product

place. And products for the second manufacturing

to achieve the same bond. Also, because the products

stage, where the sole of the shoe is manufactured and

are applied by machine – in this case, robotic hard-

attached to the upper.

ware – we realized space savings,” Simon says. “Our

H.B. Fuller’s expertise in this technology, and
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The process for applying hot melt moisture
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productivity has improved as well; so far, we’ve

achieved a 30-50 percent increase in product output
per person per hour.”
adidas-Salomon currently specifies hot melt
moisture cure products for sole attachment at
Apache, its toll production facility in Guangzhou,
China. Expansion is planned for adidas-Salomon to
implement this new process throughout China,
Vietnam and Indonesia during 2000. With more than
70 percent of global footwear production taking place
in Asia/Pacific, expansion in these areas is key to
securing H.B. Fuller’s role as a major supplier to the
footwear construction industry.
Simon cites the partnership with H.B. Fuller
as instrumental in helping adidas-Salomon make
significant strides.
“I don’t believe that we’d be at this stage of
the process if it were not for the efforts of S.W. Chiu
and his footwear team,” says Simon. “Hot melt moisture cure products will play an integral part in
adidas-Salomon’s continuing strategy to use environmentally safe products. New technologies like
this will move our business forward in the future.
And relationships, like the one we currently have
with H.B. Fuller, will give us the leverage to get the
job done.”

adidas-Salomon produced 84.2
million pairs of sports shoes in
1999. The sporting goods giant,
represented by Simon Tidball
(right), worked with H.B. Fuller’s
S.W. Chiu (middle), and Steve
Chen, assistant general manager
at Apache, to incorporate
H.B. Fuller Company’s hot melt
moisture cure adhesives into the
sole attachment process.

A M a t c h M a d e b y O m e g a™ L i n e

In a converted steel mill in Pittsburgh, Pa.,
Tri-Arc Manufacturing produces rolling stepladders

dozen other vendors.

for industrial use by customers such as Home Depot,

Explains Nick, “H.B. Fuller understood our

Staples, Office Max and Office Depot. Prior to 1999,

sense of urgency and our need for support. We were

Tri-Arc coated its products with liquid paint.

fledglings when it came to powder coatings, and we

However, last year, with sales scaling new heights on

felt a certain comfort level with H.B. Fuller.”

the way to a 100 percent increase, Tri-Arc decided to

The timing was serendipitous. In 1998, Ron

redesign its entire product line as part of its long-

had been handed the challenge of developing an in-

term strategy.

stock product line. The objective was to consolidate

“We determined that our only holdback to

the more than 2,600 custom-blended colors then

increased growth was our product line,” says Nick

produced by Global Coatings into a standard offering

Valore, vice president of operations for Tri-Arc. “We

that would meet many customers’ needs – and be

decided to move from liquid paint to powder coatings

available for immediate delivery. Omega™ line, with

to improve the quality and appearance. This opens up

fewer than 300 hues, debuted in early 1999.

new opportunities for us, such as in consumer goods,
where a much improved finish is critical.”
Having been awarded Grainger’s catalogue
business – a sizeable market for industrial ladders –

Putting the mammoth task in perspective,
Ron explains how the previous palette included 150
different shades of black. He reduced that number to
four in-stock choices.

Tri-Arc had only a few months to make the switch and

“Basically, we wanted a good quality indus-

install a powder coatings system. Enter H.B. Fuller’s

trial gray,” says Nick. “We also wanted to purchase

Global Coatings Division and Product Line Manager Ron

product off the shelf to keep our costs down and to

Von Wald.

ensure availability.” Currently, Tri-Arc uses gray,

Responding to a blind inquiry, Ron sent TriArc information and initial pricing for Global
Coatings new Omega™ line of powder coatings.
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Ultimately, H.B. Fuller was selected over nearly a
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black, orange and yellow powder coatings, with blue
and red slated as future additions.
The Omega™ line of powder coatings is just

one example of how H.B. Fuller is enhancing its
business – finding a more cost-effective way to
operate – while providing customers with a solution
that meets their needs.
“Consolidating the product line enables us to
leverage our volume and realize manufacturing efficiencies. At the same time, we offer the customer
value through a product we already have in inventory,” Ron notes.
Through solutions, such as the Omega™ line,
H.B. Fuller is creating new opportunities to partner
with customers.
Says Nick, “The best vendors are proactive.
They come when things are good, not just when you
have problems. They’re consultants and allies.”

Product Line Manager Ron Von
Wald (left) created the Omega™
line used by Tri-Arc to coat industrial ladders. Technical Sales Representative Chris Toczek (right)
helped Tri-Arc’s Nick Valore
(center) successfully convert
operations to powder coatings
under tight deadline pressure.

F r o m t h e G r o v e t o Yo u r G l a s s

The trend: Increased consumer desire for

manager of the packer’s ready-to-serve operations,

“fresh” orange juice, versus the old standby, frozen

turned to H.B. Fuller, with whom Golden Gem has a

concentrate.

20-year relationship. H.B. Fuller, in the person of

The challenge: Keeping packaging lines opersolution:

H.B.

Fuller

Company’s

Advantra™ packaging adhesives.

Dave

Garcia,

suggested

A line of advanced hot melt packaging adhesives, Advantra™ products are based on a new

Citrus juice manufacturer and fresh-fruit

polymer technology. They offer increased adhesive

packer Golden Gem Growers, Inc., of Umatila, Fla.,

mileage and aggressive bonding properties while

recently found itself in the enviable position of

delivering a cleaner, trouble-free application.

needing to double its production to meet growing

Dave Garcia worked closely with Richard

consumer demand for fresh-squeezed orange juice. A

Warren, purchasing agent for Golden Gem, to solve the

must in Golden Gem’s situation? Trouble-free packag-

packaging line problems. Dave introduced Advantra™

ing lines.

packaging adhesives to Golden Gem in January 1999,

Clogged nozzles and filters and charred
adhesive reservoirs create long downtimes in the

and within two months, the products were running on
seven packaging lines at Golden Gem.

manufacturing process. Golden Gem needed an

For Golden Gem, Advantra™ packaging

adhesive that would reduce such problems. It also

adhesives have proven the perfect solution.

required a durable shipping case for its products

“Downtime, which previously averaged 225 minutes

that could withstand a wide range of temperatures,

per week, stands at 45 minutes per week after

and the excessive handling endured by corrugated

switching to Advantra™ packaging adhesives,” says

boxes as they travel from the packaging line to the

Tim. In addition, nozzle replacements and related

warehouse, distributor center and finally, the super-

costs have been reduced more than 80 percent,

market shelves.

production time has increased, Golden Gem has

To find such a product, Tim Spalding,

28

representative

Advantra™ packaging adhesives.

ating at optimal conditions and speeds.
The

sales
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less product waste, and Advantra’s™ packaging

adhesives’ odorless properties improve the workplace environment.
Today, Golden Gem uses Advantra™ packaging adhesives for all its case sealing production.
The product can be found on the tops and bottoms
of all corrugated boxes of ready-to-serve orange
juice leaving Golden Gem, including private labels,
such as: Best Yet, Flavorite, IGA and Natural Sun,
along with more nationally recognized brand names
like Tropicana®.
For Tim and Richard, partnering with
H.B. Fuller Company has added value to their operation. “We have achieved a total cost savings of
approximately 15 percent simply by switching to
H.B. Fuller Advantra™ packaging adhesives,” Richard
says. Adds Tim, “Our plan is to continue working
with H.B. Fuller in the development of newer, safer,
faster and stronger products to meet the needs and
opportunities of tomorrow’s citrus industry.”

Tim Spalding (right) of Golden
Gem Growers, a 50-year-old fullservice citrus operation, and one
of the industry’s largest private
label juice manufacturers, uses
Advantra™ packaging adhesives
to seal corrugated boxes
containing 96-ounce bottles of
HomeMaker premium Florida
fresh-squeezed orange juice. At
left – H.B. Fuller’s Dave Garcia.

Woodworking Technology Center Opens Doors

In November 1999, H.B. Fuller’s European
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mentation,” Hans says.

Woodworking Technology Center in Nienburg,

BLP of the United Kingdom is one such

Germany, marked its first birthday. There was good

customer. BLP has used the Technology Center several

cause to celebrate; since its opening, the center has

times, to carry out machine and substrate trials. On

helped more than 150 customers sample new adhe-

one such visit, BLP tested the advantages of applying

sives using the most current equipment while avoid-

reactive hot melt adhesive by slot nozzle coating,

ing costly downtime at their own facilities.

compared to the traditional method of roller coating.

“A major problem in selling a new product to

Explains Nick Chapman, H.B. Fuller sales manager for

a customer, or in acquiring a new customer, is

the U.K., “BLP was looking to invest in new hot melt

convincing them to stop their production line and

application equipment, used in profile wrapping

engage in the risk of a trial,” says Hans Günter Schulz,

(where paper or vinyl is wrapped around a piece of

European SBU woodworking manager. “With the

wood in a continual process, such as in ceiling or

Technology Center, we’ve eliminated that obstacle.”

floor molding). By using the Technology Center, we

The Technology Center encompasses 650

were able to test the new approach, showing

square meters and contains more than 10 different

improved process control and reducing and control-

machines used in as many as 15 woodworking applica-

ling coating weights on difficult PVC films.”

tions. It is, says Hans, “like nothing else in the world.”

BLP found that by using the slot nozzle

Every week, several customers and equip-

system, they can easily shut down at the end of

ment manufacturers pass through the doors, using

production, without cleaning equipment, thus saving

the facility and ultimately increasing opportunity for

the customer valuable production time and reducing

H.B. Fuller.

adhesive waste.

“Say a customer wants to try a new film

In addition to H.B. Fuller’s direct customers,

adhesive. We prepare a special test duplicating the

equipment manufacturers use the center to help their

conditions on the customer’s line, and the customer

customers work out application problems, and to

leaves with a greater chance of a successful imple-

demonstrate new equipment. With 60 percent of
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worldwide woodworking machines manufactured in
Europe, the center is optimally located.
The Technology Center, while providing a
valuable service for customers and suppliers, positions H.B Fuller to capitalize on new growth opportunities, from several perspectives. First, it presents
a front-row seat - and a competitive edge - to
enhancements equipment manufacturers are considering, as well as changes in the production process
planned by customers. In essence, H.B. Fuller has a
head start, and says Hans, “greater influence.” Such
influence could ultimately extend to partnering with
institutes in Germany and France as well as other
parts of Europe, further cementing the company’s
leadership role.
Says Hans, “As we go forward, we will use the
Technology Center to help us offer customers not just
adhesives - but solutions.”

The Merlin Instron testing
system is one of the many ways
H.B. Fuller helps customers such
as Peter Clarke (left), BLP’s
technical director, solve woodworking application challenges
at the European Woodworking
Technology Center in Nienburg,
Germany. The center is under the
direction of Klaus Pfuhl (right).

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Results of Operations
and Financial Condition
(Dollars in thousands, except per share amounts)
The following discussion includes comments and data relating to the Company’s financial condition and results of operations for
the three fiscal years ended November 27, 1999, November 28, 1998
and November 29, 1997, respectively. This section should be read in
conjunction with the Consolidated Financial Statements and related
Notes as they contain important information for evaluation of the
Company’s comparative financial condition and operating results.

Results of Operations:
1999 Compared to 1998
Net sales in 1999 were $1,364,458, an increase of $17,217
or 1.3 percent over 1998. The sales increase resulted from an
increase in volume of 2.2 percent, a net decrease in pricing and
product mix of 1.3 percent, an increase of 0.5 percent from acquisitions, net of divestitures and a 0.1 percent decrease due to
foreign currency fluctuations versus the U.S. dollar.
Area
North America
Europe
Latin America
Asia/Pacific
Total

Increase/(Decrease)
$11,530
1.5%
547
0.2%
(8,658)
(4.4%)
13,798
16.5%
$17,217
1.3%

Net income for 1999 increased 171 percent to $43,370,
from $15,990 in 1998. The net income of both 1999 and 1998 were
negatively impacted by nonrecurring charges related to the
Company's restructuring plan announced in the third quarter of
1998 (See Note 3 to Consolidated Financial Statements). The 1999
charge was $17,204 ($12,709 after tax) and the 1998 charge was
$26,747 ($21,284 after tax). Also impacting the 1999 net income
was a charge from an accounting change of $1,204 ($741 after tax).
In the fourth quarter, 1999 the Company adopted early AICPA
Statement of Position No. 98-5, "Reporting on the Costs of Startup Activities", which requires the Company to expense as incurred
all costs related to start-up and organizational activities.
North America: In North America, the 1.5 percent sales
increase consisted of a 3.3 percent increase in volume, a 1.4
percent net decrease from pricing and product mix, a 0.3 percent
decrease due to the sale in 1998 of the hot melt glue stick and gun
business and a 0.1 percent decrease resulting from fluctuations of
the Canadian dollar versus the U.S. dollar. Sales in the Adhesives,
Sealants and Coatings Group increased 0.5 percent compared to
1998. Packaging adhesive sales grew at a 2 percent rate over 1998.
A key factor which limited the 1999 sales growth in the Adhesives,
Sealants and Coatings Group was the Company's focus on rationalizing the product line and discontinuing sales that did not meet

Sales to Unaffiliated Customers
7% Asia/Pacific

Trade Sales by Class of Product

14%
Latin America

8% Paints

21%
Europe

Operating Income
92%
Adhesives,
Sealants and
Coatings

13%
Latin America

58%
North America

6% Asia/Pacific

14%
Europe
67%
North America
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the Company's profit objectives. The Specialty Group had a sales
increase of 4.2 percent over 1998 driven by strong increases from
TEC Specialty Products, Inc. and Linear Products, Inc. These
increases were partially offset by a sales decrease in the Global
Coatings Division. The Automotive Group (EFTEC) had a 1999 sales
increase of 0.7 percent. North American operating income, prior to
the nonrecurring charges of $2,493 in 1999 and $12,879 in 1998,
increased 25% in 1999 to $70,377. Improved raw material costs as
a percentage of sales, savings associated with the restructuring
plan and overall expense control were the key reasons for the
improved operating income.
Europe: In Europe, the sales increase of 0.2 percent
consisted of a 0.7 percent decrease in volume, a 1.0 percent net
increase in pricing and product mix, a 2.2 percent decrease caused
by weakness in foreign currencies, primarily the deutsche mark, and
a 2.1 percent net increase from acquisitions and the 1998 divestiture of the wax business. Operating income, prior to the nonrecurring charges of $12,552 in 1999 and $6,025 in 1998, increased 57
percent from $17,627 in 1998 to $27,655 in 1999. Expense reductions resulting from the restructuring plan were the primary drivers
of the improved results.
Latin America: The Latin America sales decrease of 4.4
percent included a 1.8 percent decrease in volume and a 2.6 percent

net decrease in pricing and product mix. The sales decrease was
driven by unfavorable economic conditions, particularly in Brazil and
Argentina. Positive results were achieved however, in the second half
of the year in the Central American region as the Company increased
its utilization of distributors to service its customer base. Operating
income in 1999, prior to nonrecurring charges of $2,975, was
$17,976, representing an increase of 27% from the 1998 operating
income of $14,111, excluding nonrecurring charges of $7,406.
Asia/Pacific: The sales increase in Asia/Pacific of 16.5
percent in 1999 consisted of a volume increase of 12.3 percent, a
net decrease in pricing and product mix of 6.7 percent, a 4.8
percent increase due to two acquisitions made at the end of 1998
and a 6.1 percent increase resulting from foreign currency fluctuations, primarily the strengthening of the Japanese yen against the
U.S. dollar. Increasing sales of footwear adhesives was a key
contributor to the volume growth in the region. The 1999 operating
income, prior to nonrecurring charges, improved from an operating
loss of $286 in 1998 to income of $4,943 in 1999. In 1999, there
were nonrecurring charges of $1,633, which were offset by gains on
the sale of assets of $2,449. In 1998, the nonrecurring charges were
$437. The profit improvement was the result of the higher sales
volume, stable raw material costs and expense savings associated
with the restructuring plan.

Return on Net Sales
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(b) Excludes cumulative effect of accounting change.
(c) Excludes nonrecurring charges.
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Gross Margin: Total Company gross margin, as a percent of
sales, increased 1.2 percentage points in 1999 to 32.5 percent. As a
percent of sales, both raw material costs and manufacturing overhead improved from 1998. Implementation of the restructuring plan
contributed significantly to the improvement in manufacturing overhead. The focus on product line management and eliminating sales
that do not meet the Company's profit objectives also had a positive
impact on the gross margin.
Selling, Administrative and Other Expenses: Selling,
administrative and other expenses decreased as a percent of sales
from 24.8 percent in 1998 to 23.6 percent in 1999. In dollars, this
represented a decrease of $11,741 or 3.5 percent. Cost control measures implemented throughout the Company, combined with the
savings resulting from the restructuring plan, drove the reduction in
expenses. Employee census was reduced by 10 percent from 6,000
employees as of November 28, 1998 to 5,400 at November 27, 1999.
Nonrecurring Charges/Restructuring: In the third quarter
of 1998 the Company's Board of Directors approved, and the Company
announced, a restructuring plan to streamline the organizational
structure worldwide (See Note 3 to Consolidated Financial
Statements). Over the last two quarters of 1998 and throughout
1999, two businesses were sold, several manufacturing facilities were
closed or considerably scaled back, sales offices and warehouses were

consolidated and layers of management were reduced. Since the plan
was announced, the Company has incurred $43,951 (before tax) of
net charges to the income statement with $17,204 recorded in 1999
and $26,747 in 1998. The following tables show details of the nonrecurring charges for each year by geographic area:

1999 Severance
(net of pension
curtailment)
Contracts/leases
Total restructuring
Impairment of
property, plant
and equipment
Consulting
Integration and
relocation costs1
Less: Gain on the
sale of assets
Total

North
America

Europe

Latin
Asia/
America Pacific

$1,943
–
1,943

$8,372
1,660
10,032

$1,114
16
1,130

66
243

2,228
685

188
192

32
15

2,514
1,135

2,052

1,104

1,465

292

4,913

Total

$676 $12,105
618 2,294
1,294 14,399

(1,811) (1,497)
– (2,449) (5,757)
$2,493 $12,552 $2,975 $(816) $17,204

6

199

11.0%

12.0%
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199
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199
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15.8%

14.3%

10.9%

7.9%

10.4%
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8.4%

10.3%

Return on Invested Capital (a)
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(a) Average invested capital is a two-point average of long-term and short-term debt, minority
interest and stockholder’s equity. After tax interest expense and minority interest are added
back to net income.

199

)

)(c

9 (b

199

(b) Excludes cumulative effect of accounting change.
(c) Excludes nonrecurring charges.
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1998 Severance
(net of pension
curtailment)
Contracts/leases
Total restructuring
Impairment of
property, plant
and equipment
Consulting
Integration and
relocation costs1
Less: Gain on the
sale of businesses
Total

North
America

Europe

Latin
America

Asia/
Pacific Total

$3,945
526
4,471

$8,526
266
8,792

$3,704
–
3,704

$278 $16,453
53
845
331 17,298

9,481
121

4,063
764

3,564
12

–
2

17,108
899

193

–

126

104

423

(1,387)
$12,879

(7,594)
–
$6,025 $7,406

– (8,981)
$437 $26,747

1. Integration and relocation costs consisted primarily of costs related to
the shutdown of facilities, relocation of employees and other related
one-time costs to carry out the restructuring/reorganization activities.

The 1999 charges, prior to the gain on sale of assets of
$5,757, included $22,301 of costs requiring cash outlays, $2,514 of
non-cash costs and a pension curtailment benefit of $1,854. In
1998, the charges before accounting for the gain on the sale of
businesses of $8,981, included $19,685 of costs requiring cash
outlays, $17,108 of non-cash charges and a pension curtailment
benefit of $1,065. Total costs requiring cash outlays since inception
of the plan in 1998, were $41,986.
Employee census reductions resulting from the restructuring plan were 142 in 1998 and 588 in 1999 for a total of 730. An
additional census reduction of 122 employees will be realized in 2000
relating to reductions announced and communicated in 1999.
Annual cost savings as a result of the plan are expected to exceed
$30,000 (before tax) upon full realization of the benefits of the
enacted plan. No additional charges related to the original restructuring/reorganization plan are expected to be incurred beyond 1999.
In 1999, the North American charges related primarily to
a plant shutdown, and severance associated with closing sales
offices and warehouses. These costs were partially offset by the
gain on the sale of assets. In 1998, the charges related to an
announced manufacturing plant closing, reduced layers of management and the impairment recognized on property, plant and equipment, including machinery and previously capitalized software

41.2%

40.4%

34.0%

35.7%

$174.2

5

199

46.8%

Capitalization Ratio

$172.7

$171.6

$141.6

$142.1

Wo r k i n g C a p i t a l ( i n m i l l i o n s )
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costs, due to the reassessment of system benefits as a result of the
restructuring. These costs were partially offset by a gain on the sale
of the hot melt glue stick and gun business.
In Europe, the 1999 charges related primarily to severance and the impairment of assets associated with the shutdown of
three manufacturing facilities, the reduction in the layers of
management and the costs associated with the relocation of the
European area office. The 1998 charges in Europe related to
announced plant closings in two countries including the associated
impairment of property, plant and equipment and severance associated with the reduction in layers of management. These costs
were partially offset by the gain on the sale of the wax business in
the fourth quarter of 1998.
Latin American charges in 1999 were mainly for the integration costs associated with the closing of four of the five facilities that were announced in 1998. In 1999, the Company decided
to leave one of the five facilities in operation due to a change in
local import restrictions and related costs. Severance costs provided
in 1998 for this operation were reversed in 1999. Severance related
to the closing of three sales offices is included in the 1999 charges.
Latin American charges in 1998 related primarily to severance and
the impairment of property, plant and equipment associated with
the announced closing of the five manufacturing plants mentioned

above. Also included in the 1998 cost was severance related to
reducing layers of management.
The Asia/Pacific charges in 1999 were mainly for severance and the buyout of leases associated with closing warehouses
and sales offices, relocation costs related to moving the area office
and severance due to reducing layers of management. The charges
were more than offset by the gain on sale of assets of the one manufacturing facility that was closed in the region. The 1998 charges in
the Asia/Pacific region related primarily to severance associated
with the closing of the one manufacturing facility that was sold in
1999. Sales offices and warehouses were also closed in 1998.

Selling, Administrative and
O t h e r E x p e n s e s a s Pe rc e n t of S a l e s

23.6%

6

199

24.8%

5

199

24.9%

25.4%

25.9%
$56.3

$62.3

$69.2

$89.8

$90.7

Capital Expenditures,
Gross (in millions)
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The following table is a detailed reconciliation of the
restructuring reserve balance from November 29, 1997 to November
27, 1999:
Liability for nonrecurring charges:
North
Latin
Asia/
America Europe America Pacific Total
Balance
November 29, 1997 $ –
$
– $
– $ – $
–
Provisions in 1998:
Severance
4,749
8,726
3,765
278
17,518
Contracts/leases
526
266
–
53
845
5,275
8,992
3,765
331
18,363
Payments in 1998:
Severance
Contracts/leases
Balance
November 28, 1998
Provisions in 1999:
Severance
Contracts/leases
Adjustments to
1998 provisions
Payments in 1999:
Severance
Contracts/leases

(2,757)
(526)
(3,283)

(998)
–
(998)

1,992

7,994

3,057
–
3,057

8,952
1,660
10,612

(65)

225

(3,060) (13,482)
–
(399)
(3,060) (13,881)

Balance
November 27, 1999 $1,924

$4,950

(624) (190)
–
(53)
(624) (243)
3,141

(4,569)
(579)
(5,148)

88

13,215

1,022
668
16
618
1,038 1,286

13,699
2,294
15,993

92

8

260

(3,492) (82)
(16) (175)
(3,508) (257)

(20,116)
(590)
(20,706)

$763 $1,125

$8,762

Interest Expense: Interest expense in 1999 of $26,823
was $166 or 0.6 percent less than 1998. Total Company borrowings
at November 27, 1999 of $315,195 were $48,589 or 13.4 percent
lower than November 28, 1998. The reduced debt level was a direct
result of improved cash flow provided by operating activities.
Gains From Sales of Assets: The gains from sales of assets
decreased from $3,237 in 1998 to $366 in 1999, excluding the sales
of assets as part of the restructuring plan.
Other Income/Expenses, Net: Other income/expense,
net, decreased from expense of $4,674 in 1998 to expense of
$2,864 in 1999. The primary reason for the decrease was that the
1998 expense included $2,490 of consulting costs and costs associated with the Company’s transition to a new Chief Executive
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Officer. Foreign currency losses in 1999 were $2,856 as compared to
losses of $2,124 in 1998.
Income Taxes: Income tax expense of $31,807 in 1999
was 69 percent higher than the 1998 expense of $18,826. The
effective rate in 1999 was 42.7 percent compared to 57.4 percent
in 1998. Excluding the impact of the nonrecurring charges, the
effective tax rate decreased to 39.6 percent in 1999 from 40.8
percent in 1998. The negative impact of the nonrecurring charges
was due to a portion of the charges being incurred in countries
where no tax benefit was available.

Results of Operations:
1998 Compared to 1997
Worldwide sales for 1998 were $1,347,241, an increase of
$40,452 or 3.1 percent over 1997 sales of $1,306,789. The sales
increase was the result of 2.5 percentage points from increased
volume and product mix, a net increase of 3.3 percentage points
from acquisitions and divestitures, a negative 1.0 percentage point
from reduced pricing and a negative 1.7 percentage points due to
the strengthening of the U.S. dollar.
Sales changes by geographic area were as follows:
Area
North America
Latin America
Europe
Asia/Pacific
Total

Increase/(Decrease)
$7,395
1%
5,047
3%
38,454
16%
(10,444)
(11%)
$40,452
3%

Net income for the year decreased from $36,940 in 1997
to $15,990 in 1998. The earnings in 1998 were impacted by $26,747
($21,284 after tax) of nonrecurring charges. 1997 net income
included a charge of ($3,368) for an accounting change.
In North America, the one percent sales increase was
composed of 2 percentage points related to increased volume and
changes in product mix and a negative one percentage point
impact from pricing and currency. The Adhesives, Sealants and
Coatings Group had a 2 percent decrease in sales compared to 1997
primarily due to a reduction in paper converting sales. The
Automotive Group (EFTEC) had a 7 percent increase in sales
compared to the prior year with 5 percentage points of the increase
the result of the 1997 Automotive acquisitions for the full year. The
General Motors strike during the third quarter of 1998 had an
approximate 5 percentage point negative impact on 1998 EFTEC
annual sales. In the Specialty Group, sales increased 5 percent.
Strong increases in TEC Specialty Products, Inc. and Foster Products

Corporation sales were offset by reduced Linear Products Inc. sales.
North American operating income decreased from $59,940 to
$56,507, before the $12,879 nonrecurring charge. The primary
reasons for this decrease were the impact of the General Motors
strike and the impact of reduced paper converting sales.
In Latin America, 1998 sales increased 3 percent from
1997. The increase in sales was composed of 5 percentage points
relating to increased volume and changes in product mix partially
offset by a 2 percentage point decrease in pricing. Latin American
operating income decreased 10 percent when compared to 1997,
decreasing from $15,659 to $14,111, before the $7,406 nonrecurring charge. Low volumes, economic pressure within the region and
the impact of Hurricane Mitch were the primary reasons for the
reduction in operating income.
In Europe, the 16 percent 1998 sales increase was
composed of 4 percentage points due to increased volume and
changes in product mix, a net 16 percentage point increase related
to two 1998 United Kingdom (U.K.) acquisitions and the divestiture
of the construction business in 1997 and the wax business in 1998,
and a negative 4 percentage points from pricing and strengthening
of the U.S. dollar. Operating income increased from $11,112 in 1997
to $17,627 in 1998, before the $6,025 nonrecurring charge, with
operating income from the U.K. acquisitions and control of operating expenses being the primary reasons for the increase.
Asia/Pacific sales decreased 11 percent from sales in 1997.
The strengthening of the U.S. dollar, compared to local currencies,
caused a 15 percentage point decrease. The remaining changes were
a positive 6 percentage point increase due to increased volume and
changes in product mix, offset by a net negative 2 percentage points
resulting from a divestiture and an acquisition in New Zealand in
1998 and an acquisition in Australia late in 1997. Operating income
decreased from $541 in 1997 to operating losses of $286 in 1998,
before the nonrecurring charge of $437, with all of the change
resulting from the New Zealand divestiture.
Consolidated gross margin for the Company, as a percent
of sales, decreased from 31.6 percent in 1997 to 31.3 percent in
1998. During 1998, the Company overall experienced stable raw
material costs. Gross margins for Europe improved from 1997 levels.
The primary cause for the overall decrease in gross margins were
economic pressures in Latin America and Asia/Pacific.
Consolidated selling, administrative and other expenses for
the Company, excluding nonrecurring charges (See Note 3 to
Consolidated Financial Statements), increased $8,210 or 2.5 percent
from 1997, and as a percent of sales, decreased from 24.9 percent in
1997 to 24.8 percent in 1998. This decrease was primarily the result
of employee census control, cost control efforts and continued globalization of the Company. The year-end 1998 employee census

decreased one percent to 6,000 in spite of the fact that 1998 acquisitions net of divestitures added approximately 200 employees.
During 1998, the Company incurred nonrecurring
charges of $26,747 related to a restructuring plan (See Note 3 to
Consolidated Financial Statements). The restructuring charges for
the year included $16,453 of net severance related costs, $17,108
for the write-down of assets due to the restructuring plan, $845
for contract and lease charges impacted by the restructuring and
$1,322 in other restructuring expenses. These charges were offset
by $8,981 of gains on the sale of two businesses divested as a part
of the plan. The restructuring plan actually generated $2,511 in
cash in 1998, with the proceeds of the businesses sold exceeding
the cash expended.
Interest expense was $26,989 in 1998, up $7,153 or 36.1
percent from the prior year. Total Company borrowings at year-end
1998 were above that at year-end 1997, primarily as a result of
borrowings to fund acquisitions.
Other income/expense, net, changed from $7,295
expense in 1997 to $4,674 expense in 1998, primarily as a result of
1997 consulting costs and the 1997 costs associated with pursuing
a large acquisition. (See Note 5 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements).
Gains on the sale of assets decreased from $5,199 in 1997
to $3,237 in 1998, excluding the sale of businesses as part of the
restructuring plan.
Income taxes totaled $18,826 in 1998, a 29.4 percent
decrease from $26,651 in 1997. The effective tax rate in 1998
equaled the 40.8 percent in 1997, after the consideration of the
low tax benefit provided for a portion of the nonrecurring charges
incurred in countries where no tax benefit is available.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources
The net cash provided by operating activities increased
119 percent, from $51,972 in 1998 to $113,704 in 1999. Higher net
income and stronger results from the changes in current assets and
current liabilities were the primary reasons for the improved cash
flow. Net income increased $27,380 while the changes in current
assets and current liabilities, excluding cash, notes payable and net
of the effect of acquisitions and divestitures, improved by $32,722
from a use of cash of $17,801 in 1998 to a source of cash of $14,921
in 1999. Major uses of cash in 1999 included capital expenditures,
reduction of debt and the payment of dividends. Cash and cash
equivalents at November 27, 1999 were $5,821 as compared to
$4,605 at November 28, 1998. The $5,821 in cash and the Company's
unused lines of credit are considered adequate to meet Company
obligations over the next year.
Working capital at November 27, 1999 was $174,223
compared to $172,740 at November 28, 1998. Total current assets
decreased $17,757 while total current liabilities decreased $19,240.
Included in the reduction of current liabilities was a short-term debt
reduction of $12,229 and a decrease in the restructuring liability of
$4,453. The current ratio was 1.7 at November 27, 1999 as compared
to 1.6 at November 28, 1998. The number of days sales in trade
accounts receivable (net of allowance for doubtful accounts) was 62
at November 27, 1999 as compared to 61 at November 28, 1998. The
average days sales on hand of inventory was 61 at November 27,
1999 as compared to 63 at November 28, 1998. For management
purposes, the Company measures working capital performance in
terms of operating working capital, which is defined as current
assets less cash, minus current liabilities less short-term debt. The
operating working capital at November 27, 1999 of $219,883 was
$11,962 or 5% lower than the $231,845 at November 28, 1998.
The Company's ratio of long-term debt to total capitalization was 41.2 percent at November 27, 1999 as compared to 46.8
percent at November 28, 1998. At year-end 1999, the Company had
short-term and long-term lines of credit of $451,784 of which
$234,000 was committed. The unused portion of these lines of
credit was $375,694.
Capital expenditures for property, plant and equipment of
$56,253 were primarily for expansion of manufacturing capacity in
Germany, information systems projects, general improvements in
manufacturing productivity and operating efficiency and various
environmental projects. Environmental capital expenditures were
less than 10 percent of total capital expenditures and do not represent a significant portion of overall Company expenditures. Future
commitments related to 1999 capital projects are estimated to be
less than $20 million.
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Over the recent past, approximately 50 percent of the
Company's sales have come from its foreign subsidiaries. In 1999,
that number was 45 percent. Fluctuations in exchange rates,
particularly the deutsche mark and Japanese yen, can have an
impact on the Company's financial results. (See Note 1 to
Consolidated Financial Statements.) The Company continually
monitors changing economic conditions in the South American
countries, especially Argentina, Brazil and Ecuador.

I m p a c t o f t h e Ye a r 2 0 0 0 I s s u e
The Company’s Year 2000 Project Office (consisting of
information technology (“IT”) personnel) established a threephase program to address the Year 2000 Issue. The three phases
consisted of (a) an assessment phase, (b) an analysis and resolution strategy phase and (c) a remediation and testing phase. The
readiness program focused on the Company’s IT as well as non-lT
systems (which systems contain embedded technology in manufacturing or process control equipment containing microprocessors or
similar circuitry).
The Company also formed a Year 2000 Task Force (consisting of representatives from its financial, IT, legal and risk management departments and from its key business units) to further
address internal and external Year 2000 Issues.
The Company incurred Year 2000 compliance costs of
approximately $3,500 over a three-year period ending November 27,
1999. In recent years, the Company replaced certain of its financial
and operating systems. These systems have not required modification to address the Year 2000 Issue, and, as a result, the Company’s
Year 2000 costs have been relatively low.
Based on its assessments and current knowledge, the
Company believes it will not, as a result of the Year 2000 Issue,
experience any material disruptions in internal manufacturing
processes, information processing or interfaces with major
customers, or with processing orders and billing. Assuming no
major disruption in service from critical third-party providers, the
Company believes that it will continue to be able to continue to
manage its total Year 2000 transition without any material effect
on the Company’s results of operations or financial condition.

Safe Harbor Statement Under the
Private Securities Litigation Act
of 1995
Certain statements in this Annual Report are forwardlooking statements within the meaning of the Private Securities
Litigation Reform Act of 1995. These statements are subject to
various risks and uncertainties, including but not limited to the
following: political and economic conditions; product demand and
industry capacity; competitive products and pricing; manufacturing
efficiencies; new product development; product mix; availability
and price of raw materials and critical manufacturing equipment;
new plant startups; accounts receivable collection; the Company’s
relationships with its major customers and suppliers; changes in tax
laws and tariffs; patent rights that could provide significant advantage to a competitor; devaluations and other foreign exchange rate
fluctuations (particularly with respect to the German mark, the
Japanese yen, the Brazilian real and the Ecuadorian sucre); the
regulatory and trade environment; and other risks as indicated from
time to time in the Company’s filings with the Securities and
Exchange Commission. All forward-looking information represents
management’s best judgment as of this date based on information
currently available that in the future may prove to have been inaccurate. Additionally, the variety of products sold by the Company
and the regions where the Company does business makes it difficult
to determine with certainty the increases or decreases in sales
resulting from changes in the volume of products sold, currency
impact, changes in product mix and selling prices. However,
management’s best estimates of these changes as well as changes in
other factors have been included.
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Consolidated Statements of Income
H.B. Fuller Company and Subsidiaries
(In thousands, except share amounts)

November 27,
1999
Net sales
Cost of sales
Gross profit
Selling, administrative and other expenses
Nonrecurring charges
Operating income
Interest expense
Gains from sales of assets
Other income (expense), net
Income before income taxes, minority
interests and accounting change
Income taxes
Minority interests in consolidated income
Income from equity investments
Income before cumulative effect
of accounting change
Cumulative effect of accounting change
Net income

Fiscal Year Ended
November 28,
1998

November 29,
1997

$1,364,458
921,336
443,122
322,171
17,204
103,747
(26,823)
366
(2,864)

$1,347,241
925,370
421,871
333,912
26,747
61,212
(26,989)
3,237
(4,674)

$1,306,789
893,835
412,954
325,702
–
87,252
(19,836)
5,199
(7,295)

74,426
(31,807)
(1,033)
2,525

32,786
(18,826)
(117)
2,147

65,320
(26,651)
644
995

44,111
(741)
$43,370

15,990
–
$15,990

40,308
(3,368)
$36,940

Basic income (loss) per common share:
Income before accounting change
Accounting change
Net income

$3.19
(0.05)
$3.14

$1.16
–
$1.16

$2.91
(0.24)
$2.67

Diluted income (loss) per common share:
Income before accounting change
Accounting change
Net income

$3.15
(0.05)
$3.10

$1.15
–
$1.15

$2.88
(0.24)
$2.64

Weighted-average common shares outstanding:
Basic
Diluted
See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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13,808
13,978

13,721
13,844

13,843
13,988

Consolidated Balance Sheets
H.B. Fuller Company and Subsidiaries
(In thousands)

Assets
Current Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade receivables, less allowance for doubtful accounts
of $4,871 in 1999 and $5,073 in 1998
Inventories
Other current assets
Total current assets
Net property, plant and equipment
Deposits and miscellaneous assets
Excess of cost over net assets acquired, less accumulated
amortization of $12,803 in 1999 and $15,892 in 1998
Other intangibles, less accumulated amortization
of $18,255 in 1999 and $16,405 in 1998
Total assets
Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Current Liabilities:
Notes payable
Current installments of long-term debt
Accounts payable – trade
Accrued payroll and employee benefits
Other accrued expenses
Accrued nonrecurring charges
Income taxes
Total current liabilities
Long-term debt, excluding current installments
Accrued pensions
Other liabilities
Minority interests in consolidated subsidiaries

November 27,
1999

November 28,
1998

$5,821

$4,605

244,655
148,589
41,078
440,143
412,524
74,288

242,879
158,606
51,810
457,900
414,467
67,342

70,351

71,743

28,309
$1,025,615

34,717
$1,046,169

$40,149
11,332
132,273
37,573
31,096
8,762
4,735
265,920
263,714
78,286
23,801
17,514

$59,282
4,428
129,694
34,780
36,945
13,215
6,816
285,160
300,074
83,500
19,833
16,198

Commitments and contingencies
Stockholders’ Equity:
Series A preferred stock
Common stock
Additional paid-in capital
Retained earnings
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)
Unearned compensation – restricted stock
Total stockholders’ equity
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity

306
14,040
34,071
341,356
(7,522)
(5,871)
376,380
$1,025,615

306
13,983
31,140
309,966
(5,997)
(7,994)
341,404
$1,046,169

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity
H.B. Fuller Company and Subsidiaries
(In thousands)

Fiscal Years 1999, 1998 and 1997

Balance November 30, 1996
Net income
Foreign currency translation
adjustment
Less: foreign currency translation
adjustment included in net
income
Total comprehensive income
Dividends
Retirement of common stock
Stock compensation plans, net
Balance November 29, 1997
Net income
Foreign currency translation
adjustment
Less: foreign currency translation
adjustment included in net
income
Minimum pension liability
Total comprehensive income
Dividends
Retirement of common stock
Stock compensation plans, net
Balance November 28, 1998
Net income
Foreign currency translation
adjustment
Less: foreign currency translation
adjustment included in net
income
Minimum pension liability
Total comprehensive income
Dividends
Retirement of common stock
Stock compensation plans, net
Balance November 27, 1999

Preferred
Stock
$306
-

Common
Stock
$14,066
-

-

-

306
-

(301)
76
13,841
-

-

-

306
-

(1)
143
13,983
-

-

$306

-

(9)
66
$14,040

Additional
Paid-in
Capital
$22,493
-

(497)
3,039
25,035
-

(3)
6,108
31,140
-

-

(10,068)
(14,726)
304,974
15,990
-

(10,947)
(51)
309,966
43,370
-

(8,853)

97
341
(5,770)

123
(691)
(5,997)
(1,684)

-

(1,333)
(5,383)
-

(2,611)
(7,994)
-

(11,440)
(540)
$341,356

136
23
$(7,522)

2,123
$(5,871)

Detail of activity within Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss):
1999
Beginning balance
$(5,997)
Foreign currency items
(1,548)
Minimum pension liability adjustment net of taxes of $(15) and $442 in 1999 and 1998 23
Ending balance
$(7,522)

1998
$341
(5,647)
(691)
$(5,997)

1997
$9,097
(8,756)
–
$341

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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(22)
2,953
$34,071

Retained
Earnings
$292,828
36,940

Accumulated
Other
Unearned
CompreCompenhensive
sation–
Income
Restricted
(Loss)
Stock
$9,097
$(4,050)
-

Total
Comprehensive
Income
$36,940
(8,853)

97
$28,184

$15,990
(5,770)

123
(691)
$9,652

$43,370
(1,684)

136
23
$41,845

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
H.B. Fuller Company and Subsidiaries
(In thousands)

November 27,
1999
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net
cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Pension costs
Nonrecurring charges
Gain on sale of assets/businesses in the restructuring plan
Gain on sale of assets
Other items
Change in current assets and liabilities
(net of effect of acquisitions/divestitures):
Accounts receivable
Inventory
Other current assets
Accounts payable
Accrued nonrecurring charges
Accrued expense
Income taxes payable
Net cash provided by operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchased property, plant and equipment
Proceeds from sale of assets
Purchased businesses, net of cash acquired
Net cash used in investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from long-term debt
Repayment of long-term debt
Repayment/proceeds from notes payable, net
Dividends paid
Repurchase of common stock
Contributions to fund pension and other employee benefit plans
Other
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities
Effect of exchange rate changes
Net change in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Cash paid for interest
Cash paid for income taxes

$43,370

Fiscal Year Ended
November 28,
1998
$15,990

November 29,
1997
$36,940

50,776
5,128
660
(5,757)
(366)
4,972

49,541
6,900
16,043
(8,981)
(3,237)
(6,483)

46,773
9,854
–
–
(5,199)
(6,001)

(10,949)
9,426
1,739
6,145
(4,453)
2,443
10,570
113,704

(27,120)
(4,473)
(79)
646
13,215
(2,780)
2,790
51,972

(24,105)
(2,485)
(6,507)
8,224
–
13,711
(2,624)
68,581

(56,253)
10,916
(4,483)
(49,820)

(62,327)
9,019
(92,439)
(145,747)

(69,224)
14,382
(9,618)
(64,460)

41,207
(79,949)
(4,477)
(11,441)
(572)
(4,411)
(3,036)
(62,679)
11
1,216
4,605
$5,821

255,138
(161,636)
18,461
(10,947)
(56)
(3,720)
(1,759)
95,481
189
1,895
2,710
$4,605

68,255
(10,348)
(4,035)
(10,068)
(15,524)
(25,741)
(6,999)
(4,460)
(466)
(805)
3,515
$2,710

$28,962
$11,194

$24,277
$15,224

$20,358
$33,996

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
H.B. Fuller Company and Subsidiaries
(In thousands, except share amounts)

1/Summary of Significant Accounting
Po l i c i e s
The following information is presented to explain the significant accounting policies used to prepare H.B. Fuller Company’s
Consolidated Financial Statements.
Nature of Operations: H.B. Fuller Company (“The
Company”) operates as one of the world’s leading manufacturers and
marketers of adhesives, sealants, coatings, paints and other specialty
chemical products. The Company has manufacturing operations in 23
countries in North America, Europe, Latin America and the
Asia/Pacific region. The Company’s largest business category is
specialty chemicals and related products (adhesives, sealants and
coatings). These products, in thousands of formulations, are sold to
customers in a wide range of industries, including packaging, woodworking, automotive, aerospace, graphic arts (books/magazines),
appliances, filtration, windows, sporting goods, nonwovens, shoes and
ceramic tile. The Company generally markets its products through a
direct sales force and independent distributors in some markets.
Principles of Consolidation: The Consolidated Financial
Statements include the accounts of the Company and all subsidiaries.
The Company’s fiscal year ends on the Saturday closest to November
30th. The three fiscal years ended November 27, 1999 represent 52week years, respectively. All significant intercompany items have been
eliminated in consolidation. Certain prior years’ amounts have been
reclassified to conform to the 1999 presentation.
Use of Estimates: Generally accepted accounting principles
require management to make estimates and assumptions that affect
the amounts reported in the financial statements and accompanying
notes. Actual results could differ from those estimates.
Revenue Recognition: The Company’s general practice is to
recognize revenues from product sales as shipped. For certain products, the Company maintains consigned inventory at customer locations. For these products, revenue is recognized at the time the
Company is notified the inventory has been used by the customer.
Foreign Currency Translation: The financial statements of
non-U.S. operations are translated into U.S. dollars for inclusion in
the Consolidated Financial Statements.
Translation gains or losses resulting from the process of
translating foreign currency financial statements are recorded as a
component of accumulated other comprehensive income in stockholders’ equity for businesses not considered to be operating in highly
inflationary economies. Translation effect of subsidiaries operating in
highly inflationary economies and subsidiaries using the dollar as the
functional currency are included in determining net income.
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Foreign currency losses, which are included in income
before income taxes and minority interests, were as follows:
Currency translation
gains, net
Flow-through
effect of inventory
valuation, net
Currency exchange
losses, net
Total

1999

1998

1997

$4,999

$837

$216

(226)
4,773

(2,370)
(1,533)

(1,479)
(1,263)

(7,855)
$(3,082)

(2,961)
$(4,494)

(2,739)
$(4,002)

The net loss from the flow-through effects of inventory
valuation results from differences between translation of cost of
sales at historic rates versus average exchange rates. H.B. Fuller
Company’s Latin American operations, whenever possible, raise local
selling prices on their products to offset this loss. The result of these
efforts to keep pace with inflation appears in the sales revenue of
each operation.
Cash and Cash Equivalents: The Company considers all
highly liquid debt instruments purchased with a maturity of three
months or less to be cash equivalents.
Inventories: Inventories in the United States, representing
approximately 38% of consolidated inventories, are recorded at cost
(not in excess of market value) as determined primarily by the lastin, first-out method (LIFO). Inventories of non-U.S. operations are
valued at the lower of cost (mainly average cost) or market.
Inventories at year-end are summarized as follows:
Raw materials
Finished goods
LIFO reserve
Total

1999
$63,392
94,579
(9,382)
$148,589

1998
$73,126
95,862
(10,382)
$158,606

Property, Plant and Equipment: The major classes are:
Depreciable
Lives
(in years)
Land
Buildings and
improvements
Machinery and
equipment
Construction in
progress
Total, at cost
Accumulated
depreciation
Net property, plant
and equipment

1999
$55,348

1998
$56,737

20-40

227,073

226,174

5-15

442,458

433,407

42,424
767,303

41,663
757,981

(354,779)

(343,514)

$412,524

$414,467

Depreciation is generally computed on a straight-line basis
over the useful lives, noted above, of the assets, including assets
acquired by capital leases. Accelerated depreciation is used for income
tax purposes where permitted. Depreciation expense on property,
plant and equipment was $43,079, $42,317 and $40,412 in 1999, 1998
and 1997, respectively.
Amortization: Other intangible assets, primarily technology, are amortized over the estimated lives of 3 to 20 years. The
excess of cost over net assets of businesses acquired is charged
against income over periods of 15 to 25 years. The recoverability of
unamortized intangible assets is assessed on an ongoing basis by
comparing anticipated undiscounted future cash flows from operations to net book value.
Capitalized Interest Costs: Interest costs associated with
major construction of property and equipment are capitalized.
Capitalized interest costs were $441, $822, and $1,245 in 1999, 1998
and 1997, respectively.
Financial Instruments: The Company uses currency swap
contracts to manage its exposure to currency risk related to foreign
currency intercompany debt. Gains and losses on the contracts qualifying for hedges are recognized as the contract is adjusted to fair
market value which offsets foreign exchange gains or losses on the
hedged debt amount. Changes in the fair value of contracts not qualifying for hedge accounting are recognized in other income (expense).
Notional amounts outstanding were $14,947 and $17,097 in
1999 and 1998, respectively, and are not a measure of the Company’s
exposure. The swaps mature with the underlying debt between
October 20, 2000 and November 20, 2000. Changes in market value
are not material.

Counterparties to the currency swap contracts are major
financial institutions. Credit loss from counterparty nonperformance
is not anticipated.
Concentrations of credit risk with respect to trade accounts
receivable are limited due to the large number of entities comprising the Company’s customer base and their dispersion across many
different industries and countries. As of November 27, 1999 and
November 28, 1998, the Company had no significant concentrations
of credit risk.
Environmental Costs: Environmental expenditures that
relate to current operations are expensed or capitalized as appropriate. Expenditures that relate to an existing condition caused by past
operations, and which do not contribute to current or future revenue
generation, are expensed. Liabilities are recorded when environmental assessments are made or remedial efforts are probable and the
costs can be reasonably estimated. The timing of these accruals is
generally no later than the completion of feasibility studies. The
liabilities for environmental costs at November 27, 1999 and
November 28, 1998 were $4,004 and $4,312, respectively. For further
information on environmental matters, see Item 3 of the Company’s
1999 Annual Report on Form 10-K.
Income Taxes: The Company uses the asset and liability
method of accounting for income taxes. Under the asset and liability
method, deferred income taxes are recognized for the tax consequences of temporary differences by applying enacted statutory tax
rates applicable to future years to differences between the financial
statement carrying amounts and the tax basis of existing assets and
liabilities. The effect on deferred taxes of a change in tax rates is
recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment date.
Other Postretirement Benefits: The Company provides
medical benefits for eligible retired employees, employee’s beneficiaries and covered dependents. These costs are accrued during the
years the employee renders the necessary service.
Postemployment Benefits: The Company provides
postemployment benefits to inactive and former employees,
employee’s beneficiaries and covered dependents after employment,
but prior to retirement. The cost of providing these benefits is
accrued during the years the employee renders the necessary service.
Accounting Changes: In the fourth quarter, 1999 the
Company adopted early an accounting change which impacted
income by $1.2 million pretax ($0.7 million after tax) or $0.05 per
share. The AICPA Statement of Position No. 98-5, “Reporting on the
Costs of Start-up Activities” issued April 3, 1998, requires the
Company to expense as incurred all costs related to start-up and
organizational activities.
In 1997, an accounting change impacted fourth quarter
income by $3,368, or $0.24 per share, net of $2,321 income taxes
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related to Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Emerging
Issues Task Force (EITF) on Issue No. 97-13, Business Process
Reengineering.
Stock-Based Compensation: In 1999, the Company adopted
the disclosure-only provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards (SFAS) No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation.” As permitted by this standard, the Company will
continue to measure compensation cost using the intrinsic valuebased method of accounting prescribed by the Accounting Principles
Board Opinion No. 25.
Purchase of Company Common Stock: Under the Minnesota
Business Corporation Act, repurchased stock is included in the
authorized shares of the Company, but is not included in shares
outstanding. The excess of cost over par value is charged proportionally to the Additional Paid-In Capital and to the Retained Earnings.
During 1997 the Board of Directors authorized a stock repurchase
program under which up to 100,000 shares of H.B. Fuller Company
common stock could be repurchased by the Company in each of the
next three years. The shares of common stock repurchased would be
available for compensation plans of the Company. The Company
repurchased 1,333 and 9,438 shares of common stock in 1998 and
1999, respectively.
Comprehensive Income: In 1999, the Company adopted
SFAS No. 130 “Reporting Comprehensive Income” as required. This
statement establishes standards for reporting and display of comprehensive income and its components in a full set of general-purpose
financial statements. The Company is required to report total
comprehensive income, an amount that will include net income as
well as other comprehensive income. Other comprehensive income
refers to revenues, expenses, gains and losses that under generally
accepted accounting principles have previously been reported as
separate components of equity in the Company’s consolidated financial statements.
New Accounting Standard: In June 1998, the FASB issued
SFAS No. 133 “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging
Activities.” This statement, which is required to be adopted for
interim periods of fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2000, establishes standards for recognition and measurement of derivatives and
hedging activities. The Company will implement this statement in the
first quarter of fiscal year 2001 as required.
The impact of adopting the aforementioned accounting standard is not expected to have a material effect on the Company’s financial position or results of operations.
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2 / I n c o m e Pe r C o m m o n S h a re
Basic income per share includes no dilution and is
computed by dividing net income available to common shareholders
by the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding for
the period. Diluted income per share reflects the potential dilution of
stock options and restricted stock grants that could share in the
income. The difference between basic and diluted income per share
data as presented is due to the dilutive impact of stock options and
restricted stock grants whose exercise price or grant price was below
the average common stock price for the respective period presented.
Net income used in the calculation is reduced by the dividends paid
to the preferred stockholder.
A reconciliation of the net income and share components for
the basic and diluted income per share calculations is as follows:
Net income (loss)
Dividends on preferred shares
Income attributable to
common shares
Weighted-average
common shares - basic
Stock options
Restricted stock
Weighted-average
common shares - diluted

1999
$43,370
(15)

1998
$15,990
(15)

1997
$36,940
(15)

$43,355

$15,975

$36,925

13,808
72
98

13,721
71
52

13,843
92
53

13,978

13,844

13,988

3/Nonrecurring Charges
In the third quarter of 1998, the Company’s Board of
Directors approved, and the Company announced, a restructuring plan
that would streamline the organizational structure worldwide. Over
the last two quarters of 1998, and throughout 1999, two businesses
were sold, several manufacturing facilities were closed or considerably
scaled back, sales offices and warehouses were consolidated and layers
of management reduced. The Company incurred nonrecurring charges
(before tax) in 1998 of $26,747 and in 1999 of $17,204, for a total of
$43,951. Employee census reductions resulting from the restructuring
plan were 142 in 1998 and 588 in 1999 for a total of 730. An additional census reduction of 122 employees will be realized in 2000
relating to reductions announced and communicated in 1999. Annual
cost savings as a result of the plan are expected to exceed $30,000
(before tax) upon full realization of the benefits of the enacted plan.
No additional charges related to the original restructuring/reorganization plan are expected in periods beyond 1999.
Restructuring and reorganization costs include costs
directly related to the Company’s plan of reorganization. EITF No.
94-3 provides specific requirements as to the appropriate recognition of costs associated with employee termination benefits and
other exit costs.
Employee termination costs are recognized when benefit
arrangements are communicated to affected employees in sufficient
detail to enable the employees to determine the amount of benefits
to be received upon termination.
Other exit costs resulting from an exit plan that are not
associated with or that do not benefit activities that will be continued are recognized at the date of commitment to an exit plan
subject to certain conditions. For the cost to be accrued, the cost
must not be associated with or incurred to generate revenues after
the commitment date, and it must be either i) incremental to other
costs incurred prior to the commitment date, or ii) represent
amounts under a contractual obligation that existed prior to the
commitment date that will either continue after the exit plan is
completed with no economic benefit or which will result in a penalty
to cancel the obligation.
Other costs directly related to the reorganization of the
Company which were not eligible for recognition at the commitment
date, such as relocation and other integration costs, were expensed
as incurred and were nonrecurring in nature.
The Company, as part of the restructuring/reorganization
plan, identified certain property, plant and equipment and capitalized software costs to be impaired. An impairment was recognized
when the future undiscounted cash flows of each asset was estimated to be insufficient to recover its related carrying value. Where

the asset was held for disposal, the carrying values of these assets
were written down to the Company’s estimates of fair value. Fair
value was based on sales of similar assets, or other estimates of fair
value such as discounting estimated future cash flows. Where the
asset was impaired and used in operations, depreciation was
adjusted for the remaining estimated period of use.
During 1998 and 1999, the Company recorded the following amounts in the income statement in connection with the
restructuring/reorganization plan:

1999 Severance
(net of pension
curtailment)
Contracts/leases
Total restructuring
Impairment of
property, plant
and equipment
Consulting
Integration and
relocation costs1
Less: Gain on the
sale of assets
Total

North
America

Europe

Latin
Asia/
America Pacific

$1,943
–
1,943

$8,372
1,660
10,032

$1,114
16
1,130

66
243

2,228
685

188
192

32
15

2,514
1,135

2,052

1,104

1,465

292

4,913

Total

$676 $12,105
618 2,294
1,294 14,399

(1,811) (1,497)
– (2,449) (5,757)
$2,493 $12,552 $2,975 $(816) $17,204
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1998 Severance
(net of pension
curtailment)
Contracts/leases
Total restructuring
Impairment of
property, plant
and equipment
Consulting
Integration and
relocation costs1
Less: Gain on the
sale of businesses
Total

North
America

Europe

Latin
America

Asia/
Pacific Total

$3,945
526
4,471

$8,526
266
8,792

$3,704
–
3,704

$278 $16,453
53
845
331 17,298

9,481
121

4,063
764

3,564
12

–
2

17,108
899

193

–

126

104

423

(1,387)
$12,879

(7,594)
–
$6,025 $7,406

– (8,981)
$437 $26,747

1. Integration and relocation costs consisted primarily of costs related to
the shutdown of facilities, relocation of employees and other related
one-time costs to carry out the restructuring/reorganization activities.

The 1999 charges, prior to the gain on sale of assets of
$5,757, included $22,301, of costs requiring cash outlays, $2,514
of non-cash costs and a pension curtailment benefit of $1,854. In
1998, the charges before accounting for the gain on the sale of
businesses of $8,981, included $19,685 of costs requiring cash
outlays, $17,108 of non-cash charges and a pension curtailment
benefit of $1,065. Total costs requiring cash outlays since inception
of the plan in 1998, were $41,986.
In 1999, the North American charges related primarily to
a plant shutdown and severance associated with closing sales
offices and warehouses. These costs were partially offset by the
gain on the sale of assets. In 1998, the charges related to a manufacturing plant closing, reduced layers of management and the
impairment recognized on property, plant and equipment, including machinery and previously capitalized software costs, due to the
reassessment of system benefits as a result of the restructuring.
These costs were partially offset by a gain on the sale of the hot
melt glue stick and gun business.
In Europe, the 1999 charges related primarily to severance and the impairment of assets associated with the shutdown of
three manufacturing facilities, the reduction in the layers of
management and the costs associated with the relocation of the
European area office. The 1998 charges in Europe related to
announced plant closings in two countries, including the associated impairment of property, plant and equipment and severance
associated with the reduction in layers of management. These costs

52

E n e r g i z e d t o M e e t To m o r r o w ’ s O p p o r t u n i t i e s

were partially offset by the gain on the sale of the wax business in
the fourth quarter of 1998.
Latin American charges in 1999 were mainly for the integration costs associated with the closing of four of the five facilities that were announced in 1998. In 1999, the Company decided
to leave one of the five facilities in operation due to a change in
local import restrictions and related costs. Severance costs provided
in 1998 for this operation were reversed in 1999. Severance related
to the closing of three sales offices is included in the 1999 charges.
Latin American charges in 1998 related primarily to severance and
the impairment of property, plant and equipment associated with
the announced closing of the five manufacturing plants mentioned
above. Also included in the 1998 cost was severance related to
reducing layers of management.
The Asia/Pacific charges in 1999, were mainly for severance and the buyout of leases associated with closing warehouses
and sales offices, relocation costs related to moving the area office
and severance due to reducing layers of management. The charges
were more than offset by the gain on sale of assets of the one manufacturing facility that was closed in the region. The 1998 charges in
the Asia/Pacific region related primarily to severance associated
with the closing of the one manufacturing facility that was sold in
1999. Sales offices and warehouses were also closed in 1998.
Revenues and net operating income related to the businesses sold during the fourth quarter of 1998 were approximately $11,000 and $600, respectively, for the year ended
November 28, 1998.

The following table is a detailed reconciliation of the
restructuring reserve balance from November 29, 1997 to
November 27, 1999:
Liability for nonrecurring charges:
North
Latin
Asia/
America Europe America Pacific Total
Balance
November 29, 1997 $ –
$
– $
– $ – $
–
Provisions in 1998:
Severance
4,749
8,726
3,765
278
17,518
Contracts/leases
526
266
–
53
845
5,275
8,992
3,765
331
18,363
Payments in 1998:
Severance
Contracts/leases
Balance
November 28, 1998
Provisions in 1999:
Severance
Contracts/leases
Adjustments to
1998 provisions
Payments in 1999:
Severance
Contracts/leases

(2,757)
(526)
(3,283)

(998)
–
(998)

1,992

7,994

3,057
–
3,057

8,952
1,660
10,612

(65)

225

(3,060) (13,482)
–
(399)
(3,060) (13,881)

Balance
November 27, 1999 $1,924

$4,950

(624) (190)
–
(53)
(624) (243)
3,141

(4,569)
(579)
(5,148)

88

13,215

1,022
668
16
618
1,038 1,286

13,699
2,294
15,993

92

8

260

(3,492) (82)
(16) (175)
(3,508) (257)

(20,116)
(590)
(20,706)

$763 $1,125

$8,762

4/Acquisitions
In 1999 the Company purchased a business for $4,483. In
1998 the Company purchased a business and certain assets of two
businesses for $92,439. In 1997 the Company purchased the assets of
one business, with a total cash outlay in 1997 of $9,618. The acquisitions were accounted for as purchases and the accompanying
Consolidated Financial Statements include the results of these businesses since the purchase date.
The fair values of assets and liabilities acquired at the dates
of their respective acquisition are shown below as supplemental disclosure for cash flow purposes.

Cash
Receivables
Inventories
Other current assets
Property, plant and
equipment
Miscellaneous assets
Other intangibles
Excess cost
Current liabilities
Net assets acquired

1999
$–
1,329
828
–

1998
$412
15,848
6,971
829

780
–
–
1,629
(83)
$4,483

20,249
–
21,728
43,754
(17,352)
$92,439

$

1997
–
–
605
–

327
9,610
–
1,068
(1,992)
$9,618

The historical results of operations on a pro forma basis are
not presented as the effects of the acquisitions were not material.

5/Divestitures
The Company sold its hot melt glue stick and gun business
in North America, its wax business in Europe, and its powder coatings
operations in New Zealand for $18,000 cash in 1998. The Company
sold its construction product line in Europe for $1,117 cash in 1997.
The 1998 sales of the hot melt glue stick and gun business and the
wax business, with gains of $8,981, are included in nonrecurring
charges as an offset to these costs described in Note 3. The historical
results of operations on a pro forma basis are not presented as the
effects of the divestitures were not material.
In addition, gains on the sale of assets, resulted in before
tax gains of $366, $3,237 and $5,199, in 1999, 1998 and 1997, respectively. Such gains are included in other income.

6/Research and Development
Expenses
Research and development expenses charged against
income were $21,340, $22,255 and $24,830 in 1999, 1998 and 1997,
respectively. These costs are included as a component of selling,
administrative and other expenses.
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7 / I n c o m e Ta x e s
Income before income taxes, minority interests and cumulative effect of accounting changes for each year is as follows:
United States (U.S.)
Outside U.S.
Total

1999
$55,943
18,483
$74,426

1998
$29,549
3,237
$32,786

1997
$49,081
16,239
$65,320

The components of the provision for income taxes excluding cumulative effect of accounting changes are:
Current:
U.S. federal
State
Outside U.S.
Deferred:
U.S. federal
State
Outside U.S.
Total

1999

1998

1997

$12,392
1,269
12,236
25,897

$5,971
1,198
10,201
17,370

$16,769
1,706
5,705
24,180

5,171
–
739
5,910
$31,807

1,179
(74)
351
1,456
$18,826

498
195
1,778
2,471
$26,651

The difference between the statutory U.S. federal income
tax rate and the Company’s effective income tax rate is explained
below:
1999
Statutory U.S. federal
income tax rate
State income taxes
U.S. federal income taxes on
dividends received from
non-U.S. subsidiaries, before
foreign tax credits
Foreign tax credits
Non-U.S. taxes
Other tax credits
Other
Total
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35.0%
1.0

6.9
(3.2)
6.3
(2.3)
(1.0)
42.7%

1998
35.0%
2.4

6.8
(1.9)
23.9
(6.8)
(2.0)
57.4%
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1997
35.0%
1.7

5.2
(1.7)
1.3
(2.7)
2.0
40.8%

The effective tax rate in 1999 and 1998 was impacted by
costs related to the Company’s restructuring plan. Some of these
restructuring costs do not provide a foreign tax benefit in certain
foreign countries resulting in an increase in the effective tax rate
associated with non-U.S. taxes.
Deferred income tax balances at each year-end were
related to:
Depreciation
Pension
Deferred compensation
Postretirement medical benefits
Tax loss carryforwards
Nonrecurring charges
Inventory
Provisions for expenses
Difference between assigned
value and tax basis of
acquisition
Currency gains/losses
Other
Valuation allowance
Net deferred tax assets

1999
$(22,717)
17,431
5,582
5,133
19,138
1,103
750
(10,964)

1998
$(23,577)
17,957
5,168
6,653
11,377
2,067
711
(7,287)

(502)
1,011
4,066
20,031
(14,990)
$5,041

(1,488)
1,326
4,301
17,208
(5,097)
$12,111

Net deferred tax assets are presented on the consolidated
balance sheet as follows:
Deferred tax assets:
Current
Non-current
Deferred tax liabilities:
Current
Non-current
Net deferred tax assets

1999

1998

$12,698
3,070

$15,121
4,295

(1,118)
(9,609)
$5,041

(1,579)
(5,726)
$12,111

Valuation allowances relate to tax loss carryforwards and
other net deductible temporary differences in non-U.S. operations
where the future potential benefits do not meet the more likely than
not realization test.
U.S. income taxes have not been provided on approximately $65,124 of undistributed earnings of non-U.S. subsidiaries.
The Company plans to reinvest these undistributed earnings. If any
portion were to be distributed, the related U.S. tax liability may be
reduced by foreign income taxes paid on those earnings plus any
available foreign tax credit carryforwards. Determination of the
unrecognized deferred tax liability related to these undistributed
earnings is not practicable.
While non-U.S. operations of the Company, excluding the
nonrecurring charge in 1999, have been profitable overall, cumulative
tax losses of $54,239 are carried as net operating losses in 19 different countries. These losses can be carried forward to offset income tax
liability on future income in those countries. Cumulative losses of
$29,413 can be carried forward indefinitely, while the remaining
$24,826 must be used during the 2000-2005 period.

8 / N o t e s Pa ya b l e
The primary component of notes payable relates to the
Company’s short-term lines of credit with banks. This component
totals $27,815. The amount of unused available borrowings under
these lines at November 27, 1999 was $125,727.
The weighted-average interest rates on notes payable were
8.1%, 9.0% and 9.4% in 1999, 1998 and 1997, respectively.
Fair values of short-term financial instruments approximate their carrying values due to their short maturity.
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9 / L o n g - Te r m D e b t
Long-term debt, including obligations under capital leases, is summarized as follows:
Weighted Average
Interest Rate
U.S. dollar obligations:
Notes (a)
Senior notes – A, B, C, D
Senior note – B
Senior notes
Industrial and commercial development bonds
Various other obligations
Foreign currency obligations:
Deutche mark note (a)
Pound sterling notes (a)
Japanese yen note (a)
Australian dollar
Italian lira
Japanese yen
Various other obligations
Capital leases
Total long-term debt
Less: current installments
Total

Maturity

8.57%

2001-2010

6.60
5.60
7.25

2008-2012
2004-2016
2004-2006

10.81
2.80
4.77

2000
2000-2009
2000-2001
2001-2005

1999

1998

$2,965
65,000
–
125,000
7,100
6,250
206,315

$21,921
65,000
25,000
125,000
7,100
6,500
250,521

3,115
45,820
2,020
–
4,373
10,277
1,772
67,377
1,355
275,047
(11,332)
$263,715

3,503
31,488
1,788
4,433
4,078
5,204
1,742
52,236
1,745
304,502
(4,428)
$300,074

(a) The Company has revolving credit agreements with a group of major banks which provide committed long-term lines of credit of $90,000 through December
20, 2005 and $68,000 through December 20, 2004. At the Company’s option, interest is payable at the London Interbank Offered Rate plus 0.175%-0.375%,
adjusted quarterly based on the Company’s capitalization ratio, or a bid rate. A facility fee of 0.075%-0.175% is payable quarterly.
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The most restrictive debt agreements place limitations on
secured and unsecured borrowings, operating leases, and contain
minimum interest coverage, current assets and net worth requirements. In addition, the Company cannot be a member of any
“consolidated group” for income tax purposes other than with its
subsidiaries. At November 27, 1999 the Company exceeded
minimum requirements for all financial covenants.
Aggregate maturities of long-term debt, including obligations under capital leases, amount to $11,332, $3,215, $35,254,
$1,369 and $1,359 during the five fiscal years 2000 through 2004
respectively.
The estimated fair value of long-term debt was $263,900
and $314,613 for 1999 and 1998, respectively.
The fair value of long-term debt is based on quoted market
prices for the same or similar issues or on the current rates offered
to the Company for debt of similar maturities. The estimates
presented above on long-term financial instruments are not necessarily indicative of the amounts that would be realized in a current
market exchange.

10/Lease Commitments
Assets under capital leases are summarized as follows:
1999
1998
Land
$1,324
$2,194
Buildings and improvements
5,052
4,776
Machinery and equipment
237
–
6,613
6,970
Accumulated depreciation
(3,881)
(3,817)
Net assets under capital leases
$2,732
$3,153

Rental expense for all operating leases charged against
income amounted to $13,541, $14,818, and $14,166 in 1999, 1998
and 1997, respectively.

11/Contingencies
Legal: The Company and its subsidiaries are parties to
various lawsuits and governmental proceedings. For further information on certain legal proceedings, see Item 3 of the Company’s 1999
Annual Report on Form 10-K. In particular, the Company is currently
deemed a potentially responsible party (PRP) or defendant, generally
in conjunction with numerous other parties, in a number of government enforcement and private actions associated with hazardous waste
sites. As a PRP or defendant, the Company may be required to pay a
share of the costs of investigation and cleanup of these sites. In some
cases the Company may have rights of indemnification from other
parties. The Company’s liability in the future for such claims is difficult
to predict because of the uncertainty as to the cost of the investigation and cleanup of the sites, the Company’s responsibility for such
hazardous waste and the number or financial condition of other PRPs
or defendants. As is the case with other types of litigation and
proceedings to which the Company is a party, based upon currently
available information, it is the Company’s opinion that none of these
matters will result in material liability to the Company.

The following are the minimum lease payments that will
have to be made in each of the years indicated based on capital and
operating leases in effect as of November 27, 1999:
Capital
Operating
Fiscal year:
2000
$780
$7,285
2001
527
6,115
2002
614
4,504
2003
32
2,512
2004
–
1,992
Later years
–
1,023
Total minimum
lease payments
$1,953
$23,431
Amount representing interest
(598)
Present value of minimum
lease payments
$1,355
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1 2 / R e t i re m e n t a n d Po s t re t i re m e n t
Benefits
In 1999, the Company adopted SFAS No. 132 “Employers
Disclosures about Pensions and Other Postretirement Benefits” as
required. This statement revises employer’s disclosures about pensions
and other postretirement benefit plans.
The Company has noncontributory defined benefit plans
covering all U.S. employees. Benefits for the plans are based primarily
on years of service and employees’ average compensation during their
five highest out of the last ten years of service. The Company’s
funding policy is consistent with the funding requirements of federal
law and regulations. Plan assets consist principally of listed equity
securities and an Immediate Participation Guarantee contract with an
insurance company.
Certain non-U.S. consolidated subsidiaries provide pension
benefits for their employees consistent with local practices and regulations. Most of these plans are noncontributory, unfunded, defined
benefit plans covering substantially all employees upon completion of
a specified period of service. Benefits for the plans are generally based
on years of service and annual compensation. The plans historically
have been unfunded book reserved plans, but in 1997 the Company
partially funded the German plan. Related pension obligations are
provided through accrued pension costs.
The Company and certain of its consolidated subsidiaries
provide health care and life insurance benefits for eligible retired
employees and their eligible dependents. These benefits are
provided through various insurance companies and health care
providers.
Sensitivity Information: The health-care trend rate
assumption has a significant effect on the amounts reported. A one
percentage point change in the health-care cost trend rate would
have the following effects on the November 28, 1998 service and
interest cost and the accumulated postretirement benefit obligation at November 27, 1999:
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One Percentage Point
Increase
Decrease
Effect on service and
interest cost components
Effect on accumulated
postretirement benefit
obligation

$1,013

$(696)

$2,237

$(1,887)

Weighted-average of
assumptions, November
1999
Discount rate
(before retirement)
7.50%
Expected return on
plan assets –
pension benefits
10.50%
Expected return on
plan assets – other
postretirement benefits
9.50%
Rate of compensation increase 3.78%
Rate of increase in health care
cost levels:
Employees under age 65
5.68%
Employees age 65 and older
3.73%

1998

1997

6.75%

7.50%

10.00%

10.00%

8.50%
3.78%

8.50%
4.50%

6.60%
4.56%

7.36%
5.47%

For fiscal 1999, the rate of increase in health care cost levels for employees
under age 65 was expected to decrease by 0.92% for one year, 0.51% for
one year to 4.25% in 2002 and remain at that level. For employees 65 and
older, the rate was expected to remain at 3.73%.

The Company funds U.S. postretirement benefits through
a Voluntary Employees’ Beneficiaries Association Trust which was
established in 1991. The funds are invested primarily in common
stocks with an expected long-term rate of return of 9.5 percent.
The reduction from prior year in the postretirement benefits obligation was due to management’s decision to cap the Company’s
subsidy toward postretirement medical benefits. Beginning in
2005, the Company’s dollar contribution for retiree medical coverage will remain fixed at the 2004 level for employees who retire in
the year 2005 or later.

Pension Benefits
1999
Net periodic cost:
Service cost
Interest cost
Expected return on assets
Prior service cost amortization
Actuarial (gain)/loss amortization
Transition amount amortization
Curtailment (gain)/loss
Net periodic benefit cost
Change in benefit obligation:
Benefit obligation, September 1
or prior year
Service cost
Interest cost
Participant contributions
Plan amendments
Actuarial (gain)/loss
Other events
Benefits paid
Benefit obligation, August 31
Change in plan assets:
Fair value of plan assets,
September 1 of prior year
Actual return on plan assets
Employer contributions
Participant contributions
Benefits paid
Fair value of plan assets,
August 31
Reconciliation of funded status
as of November:
Funded status
Unrecognized actuarial loss (gain)
Unrecognized prior service cost
(benefit)
Unrecognized net
transition obligation
Contributions between
measurement date
and fiscal year-end
Recognized amount
Statement of financial position
as of November:
Prepaid benefit cost
Accrued benefit liability
Additional minimum liability
Intangible asset
Accumulated other
comprehensive income
Recognized amount

$5,987
12,011
(16,538)
724
(766)
(27)
(1,780)
$(389)

U.S. Plans
1998

1997

Non-U.S. Plans
1999
1998
1997

Other
Postretirement Benefits
1999
1998
1997

$5,629
11,795
(14,837)
640
(1,349)
(27)
–
$1,851

$4,633 $1,495
11,048
3,415
(11,505) (1,789)
650
9
(311)
24
(27)
(281)
–
(274)
$4,488 $2,599

$1,692
3,559
(1,620)
39
25
75
–
$3,770

$1,855
$2,033
3,492
2,667
(429) (5,294)
39
(828)
24
(561)
76
–
–
(74)
$5,057 $(2,057)

$1,833
2,641
(3,911)
(857)
(183)
–
–
$(477)

$174,231 $154,132
5,987
5,629
12,011
11,795
–
–
1,451
–
(8,854)
8,478
–
–
(6,805)
(5,802)
$178,021 $174,232

$49,606
1,495
3,415
167
–
2,448
–
(2,043)
$55,088

$53,174
1,692
3,559
162
–
(320)
(1,005)
(2,082)
$55,180

$37,811
2,033
2,667
114
(11,329)
(1,004)
–
(2,076)
$28,216

$34,199
1,833
2,641
–
–
830
–
(1,692)
$37,811

$184,407 $186,911
69,470
3,044
617
254
–
–
(6,805)
(5,802)

$22,973
6,396
178
167
(400)

$21,051
4,219
184
162
(338)

$49,233
19,016
1,855
114
(2,076)

$45,891
3,478
1,556
–
(1,692)

$247,689 $184,407

$29,314

$25,278

$68,142

$49,233

$39,926
(19,636)

$11,422
(5,470)

(12,326)

(1,899)

$69,668
(110,662)
6,360
(124)

$10,176
(51,500)
5,712
(151)

140
116
$(34,618) $(35,647)
$205
(34,823)
(5,358)
4,263

$227
(35,874)
(5,353)
4,103

1,095
1,250
$(34,618) $(35,647)

$(25,774) $(29,903)
2
(281)
(29)

(22)

(5,582)

(4,116)

–

–

–
–
$(31,383) $(34,322)

200
$8,164

300
$4,353

$1,175
(32,559)
–
–

$1,740
2,447
(2,553)
(878)
–
–
–
$756

$1,191
(35,513)
–
–

–
–
$(31,384) $(34,322)

The projected benefit obligation, accumulated benefit obligation, and fair value of plan assets for pension plans with accumulated benefit obligation in excess
of plan assets were $63,908, $56,986, and $22,723, respectively as of November 27, 1999 and $66,847, $59,719, and $22,694 as of November 28, 1998.
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13/Stockholders’ Equity
Preferred Stock: The Board of Directors is authorized to
issue up to 10,000,000 additional shares of preferred stock that may
be issued in one or more series and with such stated value and terms
as may be determined by the Board of Directors.
Series A Preferred Stock: There were 45,900 Series A
preferred shares with a par value of $6.67 authorized and issued at
November 27, 1999 and November 28, 1998. The holder of Series A
preferred stock is entitled to cumulative dividends at the rate of
$0.33 per share per annum. Common stock dividends may not be
paid unless provision has been made for payment of Series A
preferred dividends. The Series A preferred stock has multiple voting
rights entitling the Series A preferred shareholder to 80 votes per
share. The terms of the Series A preferred stock include the right of
the Company to purchase the shares at specified times and the right
of the Company to redeem all shares at par value if authorized by
the shareholders.
Series B Preferred Stock: In connection with the adoption
of the shareholder rights plan (see below), the Board of Directors
authorized a new series of preferred stock (“Series B preferred
shares”) that would be exchanged for the Company’s existing Series
A preferred shares, if and at such time as the rights issued pursuant
to the shareholder rights plan become exercisable. The Series B
preferred shares have the same terms as the Series A preferred
shares, except that the voting rights of the Series B preferred shares
are increased proportionately according to the number of shares
issued upon the exercise or exchange of rights. The Company entered
into a Stock Exchange Agreement dated July 18, 1996, with the
holder of the Series A preferred shares by which the Series B
preferred shares would be exchanged for all Series A preferred shares
on the date the rights under the shareholder rights plan become
exercisable. The exchange of the Series A preferred shares for the
new Series B preferred shares is intended to preserve the holder’s
voting power, in the event any rights are exercised. No event has
occurred which would cause the exchange to be effected.
Common Stock: There were 40,000,000 par value $1.00
common shares authorized and 14,040,155 and 13,982,649 shares
issued and outstanding at November 27, 1999 and November 28,
1998, respectively.
Shareholder Rights Plan: The Company has a shareholder
rights plan under which each holder of a share of common stock also
has one right to purchase one share of common stock for $180. The
rights are not presently exercisable. Upon the occurrence of certain
“flip-in” events, each right becomes exercisable and then entitles its
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holder to purchase $180 worth of common stock at one-half of its
then market value. Upon certain “flip-over” events, each right entitles its holder to purchase $180 worth of stock of another party at
one-half of its then market value. One flip-in event is when a person
or group (an “acquiring person”) acquires 15 percent or more of the
Company’s outstanding common stock. Rights held by an acquiring
person or an adverse person are void. The Company may redeem the
rights for one cent per share, but the redemption right expires upon
the occurrence of a flip-in event. In addition, at any time after a
person or group acquires 15 percent or more of the Company’s
outstanding common stock, but less than 50 percent, the Board of
Directors may, at its option, exchange all or part of the rights (other
than rights held by the acquiring person) for shares of the
Company’s common stock at a rate of one share of common stock for
every right. The rights expire on July 30, 2006.
Directors’ Deferred Compensation Plan: The Directors’
Deferred Compensation Plan reserves 75,000 shares of common stock
for allocation as payment of retainer fees. Directors, who are not
employees, can choose to receive all or a portion of the payment of
their retainer and meeting fees in shares of Company common stock
when they leave the Board rather than cash payments each year. At
November 27, 1999, 26,577 shares remained available for future
allocation.
1998 Directors’ Stock Incentive Plan: The 1998 Directors’
Stock Incentive Plan reserves 200,000 shares of common stock to
offer nonemployee directors incentives to put forth maximum efforts
for the success of the Company’s business and to afford nonemployee
directors an opportunity to acquire a proprietary interest in the
Company. In 1999 and 1998, respectively, 4,000 and 7,017 restricted
shares were awarded with a market value of $281 and $441 being
charged to expense over the vesting periods. At November 27, 1999,
188,983 shares remained available for future award.
1992 Stock Incentive Plan: Under the 1992 Stock Incentive
Plan 900,000 shares of the Company’s common stock were made
available for the granting of awards during a period of up to ten
years from April 16, 1992. The Stock Incentive Plan permits the
granting of (a) stock options; (b) stock appreciation rights; (c)
restricted stock and restricted stock units; (d) performance awards;
(e) dividend equivalents; and (f) other awards valued in whole or in
part by reference to or otherwise based upon the Company’s stock.
A total of 1,031, 64,755 and 38,736 restricted shares of the
Company’s common stock were granted to certain employees in
1999, 1998 and 1997, respectively. The market value of shares
awarded of $44, $3,734 and $2,108 has been recorded as unearned
compensation – restricted stock in 1999, 1998 and 1997, respec-

tively and is shown as a separate component of stockholders’ equity.
Unearned compensation is being amortized to expense over the
vesting periods of generally ten years and amounted to $2,122, $993
and $548 in 1999, 1998 and 1997, respectively.
A total of 1,000, 19,900 and 21,850 restricted share units
of the Company’s common stock were allocated to certain employees
in 1999, 1998 and 1997, respectively. The market value of units allocated of $43, $1,104 and $1,191 in 1999, 1998, and 1997, respectively, is generally being charged to expense over the ten-year
vesting period.
A total of 243,949 non-qualified stock options were
granted in 1999 to officers and key employees at prices not less than
fair market value at the date of grant. These non-qualified options
are generally exercisable beginning one year from the date of grant
in cumulative yearly amounts of 25 percent of the shares under
option and generally have a contractual term of 10 years.
At November 27, 1999, 277,422 shares remained available
for future grants or allocations.
1987 Stock Option Plan: 73,421 options were outstanding
at November 27, 1999, under the Company’s 1987 non-qualified
plan. Options are exercisable until April 27, 2000. At November 27,
1999, no shares remained available for grants under this plan.
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A summary of non-qualified stock option transactions is as follows:

Number
211,869
(29,079)
182,790
(71,799)
110,991
(10,297)
243,949
(37,194)
307,449
73,421

Outstanding at November 30, 1996
Exercised
Outstanding at November 29, 1997
Exercised
Outstanding at November 28, 1998
Cancelled
Granted
Exercised
Outstanding at November 27, 1999
Exercisable at November 27, 1999

WeightedAverage
Exercise Price
$14.50
14.33
14.53
14.83
14.33
41.96
44.16
14.33
$37.07
$14.33

A summary of non-qualified option transactions is as follows:

Range of
Exercise
Prices
$14.33
43.00-46.88
68.63

Outstanding
73,421
224,028
10,000

WeightedAverage
Remaining
Years of
Contractual
Life
.3
9.0
9.6

WeightedAverage
Exercise
Price
$14.33
43.11
68.63

Exercisable
73,421
–
–

WeightedAverage
Exercise
Price
$14.33
–
–

If compensation expense had been determined for the Company’s non-qualified stock option plans based on the fair value at
the grant dates consistent with the method of SFAS No. 123, the Company’s net income and income per share would have been adjusted
to the pro forma amounts indicated below:
Net income

As reported
Pro forma

1999
$43,370
$42,830

Basic income per share

As reported
Pro forma

$3.14
$3.10

Diluted income per share

As reported
Pro forma

$3.10
$3.06

Pro forma amounts for fiscal 1998 and 1997 are not presented as options granted prior to 1996 are not considered for purposes of this
table. The Company did not grant stock options during fiscal 1998 and 1997 for purposes of calculating adjusted pro forma amounts
required to be disclosed under SFAS No. 123. Compensation expense for pro forma purposes is reflected over the options’ vesting period.
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The weighted-average fair value per option at the grant
date for options granted in fiscal 1999 was $15.37. The fair value
was estimated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with
the following weighted-average assumptions for fiscal 1999:
Risk-free interest rate
Expected dividend yield
Expected volatility factor
Expected option term

1999
4.57%
1.50%
30.24%
7 years

14/Business Segment Information
During 1999, the Company adopted SFAS No. 131. The
new standard changes the information the Company reports about
its operating segments. Operating segment information for prior
years has been restated and supplemented to conform to the 1999
presentation.
The Company's operating segments have generally similar
products and services and the Company is organized to manage its
operations geographically. Consequently, the Company's operating
segments are based on four geographic areas which represent its
reportable segments. The North America segment provides adhesives, sealants and coatings to the United States, Mexican, and
Canadian markets. The Europe segment provides adhesives, sealants
and coatings to the European countries. The Latin America segment
provides adhesives, sealants, coatings and paints to Puerto Rico,
the Dominican Republic, Central and South American markets. The
Asia/Pacific segment provides adhesives, sealants and coatings to
the Pacific Rim countries. Each segment is served commonly by an
area group office which provides administrative support and
marketing services.
The segments use many common raw materials which are
either petroleum-based or of a nonsynthetic nature. These
segments are not capital intensive and the manufacturing facilities
and raw materials are relatively interchangeable and are not, in
general, highly specialized.
Information on the customers, markets and products and
services of each of the Company's operating segments is included
in the "H.B. Fuller At A Glance" section of this Annual Report.
The accounting policies of the reportable segments are
consistent with generally accepted accounting principles and as
described in "Summary of Significant Accounting Policies" - Note 1
of these notes to the consolidated financial statements.
Management evaluates profitability of the Company's operating
segments based on operating income.
The following tables present information about the
Company's reported segments, which also are the Company's

geographic segments for the years ended November 27, 1999,
November 28, 1998 and November 29, 1997.
Sales to
unaffiliated
customers:
North America
Europe
Latin America
Asia/Pacific
Total trade sales

1999
1998
1997
$791,029
$779,499
$772,104
286,921
286,374
247,920
188,919
197,577
192,530
97,589
83,791
94,235
$1,364,458 $1,347,241 $1,306,789

Inter-company
sales:
North America
Europe
Latin America
Asia/Pacific
Eliminations
Total intercompany sales
Net sales:
North America
Europe
Latin America
Asia/Pacific
Eliminations
Total net sales

1999
$14,174
3,230
974
76
(18,454)
-

1998
$12,558
3,673
15,221
33
(31,485)
–

1997
$17,257
4,098
14,398
111
(35,864)
–

1999
1998
1997
$805,203
$792,057
$789,361
290,151
290,047
252,018
189,893
212,798
206,928
97,665
83,824
94,346
(18,454)
(31,485)
(35,864)
$1,364,458 $1,347,241 $1,306,789

Operating income (losses):
1999
North America
$67,884
Europe
15,103
Latin America
15,001
Asia/Pacific
5,759
Total operating income
$103,747

1998
$43,628
11,602
6,705
(723)
$61,212

1997
$59,940
11,112
15,659
541
$87,252
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Depreciation and
amortization
North America
Europe
Latin America
Asia/Pacific
Total depreciation and
amortization
Identifiable assets:
North America
Europe
Latin America
Asia/Pacific
Eliminations
General corporate assets
Total assets

1999
$30,651
14,263
3,918
1,944

1998
$30,762
11,910
5,178
1,691

1997
$28,803
9,948
5,298
2,724

$50,776

$49,541

$46,773

1999
1998
$561,435
$553,627
245,999
272,302
133,779
150,867
80,997
74,948
(40,669)
(47,283)
44,074
41,266
$1,025,615 $1,045,727

1997
$518,179
176,745
150,138
75,625
(41,247)
38,206
$917,646

Gross profit:
First quarter
Second quarter
Third quarter
Fourth quarter
Total year

1999
$104,574
112,490
108,711
117,347
$443,122

Operating income (losses):
First quarter
Second quarter
Third quarter
Fourth quarter
Total year

1999
$20,516
24,622
27,279
31,330
$103,747

1998
$97,633
108,693
103,095
112,450
$421,871
1998
$15,437
24,720
(2,119)
23,174
$61,212

General corporate assets consist primarily of cash and
cash equivalents and long-term financial assets.

Net income (losses):
First quarter
Second quarter
Third quarter
Fourth quarter
Total year

Long lived assets:
North America
Europe
Latin America
Asia/Pacific
General corporate assets
Total long lived assets

Basic net income (losses)
per share:
First quarter
Second quarter
Third quarter
Fourth quarter
Total year

1999
$0.55
0.73
0.87
0.99 *
$3.14 *

1998
$0.44
0.82
(0.75)
0.65
$1.16

Diluted net income (losses)
per share
First quarter
Second quarter
Third quarter
Fourth quarter
Total year

1999
$0.55
0.72
0.86
0.97 *
$3.10 *

1998
$0.43
0.81
(0.75)
0.65
$1.15

Capital expenditures:
North America
Europe
Latin America
Asia/Pacific
Total capital expenditures

1999
$324,197
145,310
46,902
30,663
40,233
$587,305

1998
$312,172
150,513
47,559
26,680
38,952
$575,876

1997
$322,704
69,638
52,300
32,197
36,390
$513,229

1999
$28,996
19,857
4,423
2,977
$56,253

1998
$39,310
14,233
4,868
3,916
$62,327

1997
$39,656
19,298
7,020
3,250
$69,224

15/Quarterly Data (unaudited)
Net sales:
First quarter
Second quarter
Third quarter
Fourth quarter
Total year
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1999
$327,210
348,198
331,916
357,134
$1,364,458

E n e r g i z e d t o M e e t To m o r r o w ’ s O p p o r t u n i t i e s

1998
$310,656
341,970
333,518
361,097
$1,347,241

1999
$7,599
10,026
12,068
13,677 *
$43,370 *

1998
$5,954
11,261
(10,263)
9,038
$15,990

* Fourth quarter income was $14,418 before an accounting change charge
of $(741) or $(0.05) per share. Year-to-date income was $44,111 or $3.19
per share (basic) or $3.15 per share (diluted) before an accounting change
charge of $(741) or $(0.05) per share.

Management’s Report

Report of Independent
Accountants

The management of H.B. Fuller Company is responsible for the
integrity, objectivity and accuracy of the financial statements of
the Company and its subsidiaries. The accompanying financial
statements, including the notes, were prepared in conformity with
generally accepted accounting principles appropriate in the circumstances and include amounts based on the best judgment of
management.

To the Board of Directors and
Stockholders of H.B. Fuller Company

Management is also responsible for maintaining a system of internal
accounting controls to provide reasonable assurance that established
policies and procedures are followed, that the records properly
reflect all transactions of the Company and that assets are safeguarded against material loss from unauthorized use or disposition.
Management believes that the Company’s accounting controls
provide reasonable assurance that errors or irregularities that could
be material to the financial statements are prevented or would be
detected within a timely period by employees in the normal course
of performing their assigned duties.

Raymond A. Tucker
Senior Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer

Albert P.L. Stroucken
Chairman of the Board,
President and
Chief Executive Officer

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated balance sheets and
the related consolidated statements of income, stockholders’
equity and of cash flows present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of H.B. Fuller Company and its subsidiaries at
November 27, 1999 and November 28, 1998, and the results of
their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in
the period ended November 27, 1999, in conformity with generally
accepted accounting principles in the United States. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management; our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits of
these statements in accordance with generally accepted auditing
standards in the United States which require that we plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An
audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for
the opinion expressed above.
As discussed in Note 1, in 1999 the Company changed its accounting
for start-up costs to conform with AICPA Statement of Position 985. In 1997 the Company changed its accounting for certain information technology transformation costs to conform with issue 97-13 of
the Emerging Issues Task Force.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Minneapolis, Minnesota
January 10, 2000
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1989-1999 In Review and Selected Financial Data
H.B. Fuller Company and Subsidiaries

Annual Growth Rate
1-yr
5-yr
10-yr
1998- 1994- 19891999 1999 1999
%
1.3
69.5

%
4.5
9.5

%
6.1
8.5

175.9

7.4

10.9

171.2

7.0

10.7

1.8
(0.6)
69.0

8.9
18.0
10.0

10.0
7.3
8.6

(2.0)
(0.9)

6.7
6.1

8.5
6.2

(0.5)

6.9

8.3

(12.1)
10.2

15.2
6.5

10.1
7.3

175.0
173.9

7.5
7.3

11.2
11.2

170.7
169.6

7.2
7.0

11.1
11.0

3.8

7.2

7.9

9.8

6.3

7.3

12.5
12.1

11.5
5.6

12.3
10.7

0.6
1.0
(10.0)

(0.1)
–
(3.3)

(0.3)
(0.3)
(0.2)

(Dollars in thousands,
except per share amounts)
Income Statement Data:
Net sales
Operating income
Income from
continuing operations
Percent of net sales
Net income
Percent of net sales
Depreciation
Interest expense
Income taxes
Balance Sheet Data:
Total assets
Working capital
Current ratio
Net property,
plant and equipment
Long-term debt, excluding
current installments
Stockholders’ equity
Stockholder Data:
Income from continuing
operations per common share:
Basic
Diluted
Net income per common share:
Basic
Diluted
Dividends paid:
Per common share
Stockholders’ equity:
Book value per common share
Return on average
stockholders’ equity
Common stock price:
High
Low
Weighted-average common shares
outstanding (in thousands):
Basic
Diluted
Number of employees

1999

1998

1997

1996*

1995

$1,364,458
$103,747

1,347,241
61,212

1,306,789
87,252

1,275,716
80,754

1,243,818
69,765

$44,111
3.2
$43,370
3.2
$43,079
$26,823
$31,807

15,990
1.2
15,990
1.2
42,317
26,989
18,826

40,308
3.1
36,940
2.8
40,412
19,836
26,651

45,430
3.6
45,430
3.6
40,878
18,881
31,233

31,195
2.5
28,663
2.3
35,134
18,132
19,148

$1,025,615
$174,223
1.7

1,046,169
172,740
1.6

917,646
171,607
1.7

869,275
141,617
1.6

828,929
142,056
1.6

$412,524

414,467

398,561

391,201

355,123

$263,714
$376,380

300,074
341,404

229,996
339,114

172,779
334,740

166,459
299,414

$3.19
$3.15

1.16
1.15

2.91
2.88

3.26
3.24

2.24
2.23

$3.14
$3.10

1.16
1.15

2.67
2.64

3.26
3.24

2.06
2.05

$0.815

0.785

0.72

0.655

0.625

$26.79

24.39

24.48

23.78

21.35

12.1

4.7

11.0

14.3

10.0

$72.88
$38.13

64.81
34.00

60.25
44.50

47.75
29.50

39.75
27.75

13,808
13,978
5,400

13,721
13,844
6,000

13,843
13,988
6,000

13,910
14,008
5,900

13,884
13,977
6,400

* All years after 1995 are 52-week years. All other years are twelve months ended November 30.
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1994

1993

1992

1991

1990

1989

1,097,367
65,953

975,287
53,470

942,438
71,406

861,024
59,846

792,230
51,911

753,374
46,009

30,863
2.8
30,863
2.8
28,177
11,747
19,782

21,701
2.2
9,984
1.0
24,934
10,459
19,191

35,622
3.8
35,622
3.8
24,865
12,537
24,716

27,687
3.2
27,687
3.2
21,787
14,788
19,173

21,145
2.7
21,145
2.7
20,376
14,028
15,234

15,671
2.1
15,671
2.1
16,571
13,237
13,936

742,617
129,665
1.6

564,521
119,905
1.7

561,204
130,817
1.8

508,911
108,779
1.7

489,634
96,097
1.7

455,172
95,645
1.8

295,090

232,547

223,153

207,378

202,341

186,631

130,009
274,805

60,261
249,396

53,457
255,040

71,814
219,050

88,240
197,191

100,974
186,515

2.22
2.21

1.56
1.55

2.58
2.55

2.03
2.00

1.55
1.53

1.10
1.09

2.22
2.21

0.72
0.71

2.58
2.55

2.03
2.00

1.55
1.53

1.10
1.09

0.575

0.54

0.46

0.41

0.40

0.38

19.70

17.92

18.43

15.96

14.56

13.27

11.5

4.0

15.0

13.3

11.0

8.6

42.25
29.00

42.75
31.25

53.25
32.58

38.33
18.83

19.17
13.75

22.83
13.83

13,877
13,988
6,400

13,872
14,006
6,000

13,778
13,989
5,800

13,613
13,854
5,600

13,650
13,811
5,600

14,216
14,358
5,500
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